Aus der Klinik für Innere Medizin III (Kardiologie, Angiologie und Internistische Intensivmedizin) Direktor: Prof. Dr. M. Böhm Fachbereich Klinische Medizin Universität des Saarlandes, Homburg/Saar

# Influence of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition on myocardial regeneration and cardiac remodeling mediated by bone marrow-derived cells in cardiac pressure overload

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin der Medizinischen Fakultät der UNIVERSITÄT DES SAARLANDES 2010

> Vorgelegt von Andrey Kazakov, geb. am 10.08.1976 in Gorkij (Russland)

## Erklärung gemäß § 7 Abs. 1 Nr. 4

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe. Die aus anderen Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommen Daten und Konzepte sind unter Angabe der Quelle gekennzeichnet.

Bei der Auswahl und Auswertung folgenden Materials haben mir die nachstehend aufgeführten Personen in der jeweils beschriebenen Weise unentgeltlich geholfen:

S. Jäger und E. Becker bei der Durchführung der Operationen

Weitere Personen waren an der inhaltlich-materiellen Erstellung der vorliegenden Arbeit nicht beteiligt. Insbesondere habe ich nicht die entgeltliche Hilfe von Vermittlungs- bzw. Beratungsdiensten (Promotionsberaterinnen/Promotionsberater oder anderer Personen) in Anspruch genommen. Außer den Angegebenen hat niemand von mir unmittelbar oder mittelbar geldwerte Leistungen für Arbeiten erhalten, die im Zusammenhang mit dem Inhalt der vorgelegten Dissertation stehen.

Die Arbeit wurde bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form in einem anderen Verfahren zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades einer anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt.

Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass ich nach bestem Wissen die Wahrheit gesagt und nichts verschwiegen habe.

Vor Aufnahme der vorstehenden Versicherung an Eides statt wurde ich über die Bedeutung einer eidesstattlichen Versicherung und die strafrechtlichen Folgen einer unrichtigen oder unvollständigen eidesstattlichen Versicherung belehrt.

Homburg, den

Unterschrift des Promovierenden

Unterschrift der die Versicherung an Eides statt aufnehmenden Beamtin bzw. des aufnehmenden Beamten.

## CONTENTS

1.	Abb	reviatior	18	6
2.	Sum	mary/Zu	ısammenfassung	8
3.	Intro	oduction		13
	3.1.	Potentia	al of heart regeneration	13
	3.2.	Prolifer	ation of distinct cells in the heart	15
	3.3.	Bone m	arrow stem cells for heart regeneration	16
	3.4.	Stimula	tion of heart regeneration	17
	3.5.	Effects	of the ACE inhibitor ramipril on cardiac remodeling	19
4.	Aim	s of the s	study	20
5.	Mat	erials an	d methods	21
	5.1.	Materia	ıls	21
		5.1.1.	Animals	21
		5.1.2.	Chemicals	21
		5.1.3.	Antibodies	22
		5.1.4.	Assays and kits	24
		5.1.5.	Drugs	24
		5.1.6.	Solutions	24
		5.1.7.	Instruments	26
		5.1.8.	Computer software	28
	5.2.	Method	ls	28
		5.2.1.	Experimental groups	28
		5.2.2.	Transverse aortic constriction	28
		5.2.3.	Bone marrow transplantation	29
		5.2.4.	Fluorescence-activated cell sorter analysis	29
			5.2.4.1. FACS-Immunostaining of peripheral blood cells	29
			5.2.4.2. FACS-Immunostaining of bone marrow cells	30
		5.2.5.	Migration assay of spleen-derived EPC's	30
		5.2.6.	Disc angiogenesis model	31
		5.2.7.	Blood pressure measurement	31
		5.2.8.	Histology	32
			5.2.8.1. Preparation of paraffin sections and deparaffinization	32
			5.2.8.2. Hematoxylin-eosin staining	32
			5.2.8.3. Picrosirius red staining	32

	5.2.9.	Immunos	taining	33
		5.2.9.1.	Basic principle	33
		5.2.9.2.	Antigen retrieval	33
		5.2.9.3.	Staining methods	33
		5.2.9.4.	Two-step indirect method	33
		5.2.9.5.	Streptavidin-biotin method	34
		5.2.9.6.	Tyramide-amplification method	34
		5.2.9.7.	Control of immunostaining	34
	5.2.10.	Apoptosis	detection	35
	5.2.11.	Section e	xamination and tissue morphometry	35
	5.2.12.	Analysis	of HIF-1α-expression	36
		5.2.12.1.	RNA isolation	36
		5.2.12.2.	Reverse transcription	37
		5.2.12.3.	Quantitative RT-PCR	37
	5.2.13.	Analysis	of HIF-1α protein content by Western blotting	38
		5.2.13.1.	Protein isolation and measurement of protein concentration	38
		5.2.13.2.	Gel electrophoresis and electrophoretic transfer of proteins	38
		5.2.13.3.	Immunovisualization	39
		5.2.13.4.	Densitometry	39
	5.2.14.	Statistical	analysis	39
Resu	ults	•••••		40
6.1.	Hemody	ynamic data	and myocardial hypertrophy	40
6.2.	Heart ti	ssue remod	eling	42
	6.2.1.	Cardiomy	ocyte hypertrophy	42
	6.2.2.	Cardiac f	ibrosis	44
	6.2.3.	Cell turno	over in the left ventricular myocardium	46
		6.2.3.1.	Cycling cardiac cells	46
		6.2.3.2.	Apoptosis	49
6.3.	Neoang	iogenesis		53
	6.3.1.	Extracard	iac neoangiogenesis	53
	6.3.2.	Endotheli	al progenitor cells	53
		6.3.2.1.	FACS-analysis data	54
		6.3.2.2.	Migration assay data	55
	6.3.3.	Capillaris	ation of the left ventricle	56
	6.3.4.	Bone mar	row-derived endothelial cells	60

6.

11.	Curi	riculum v	vitae	101
10.	List	of public	cations	98
9.	Acki	nowledgi	nents	97
8.	Refe	rences		81
		7.4.	Conclusions	79
		7.3.3.	Myocyte progenitor cells	77
		7.3.2.	Mechanisms of ramipril-induced EPC mobilization	75
		7.3.1.	Endothelial progenitor cells	73
		regener	ation	73
	7.3.	Effects	of ACE inhibition on the bone marrow-cardiac axis of myocardial	
	7.2.	Cardiac	and extracardiac neoangiogenesis	70
		7.1.3.	Cardiac cell turnover	68
		7.1.2.	Amelioration of left ventricular hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis	65
		7.1.1.	Transverse aortic constriction leads to pressure overload	65
	7.1.	Effects	of ACE inhibition on cardiac remodeling in TAC	65
7.	Disc	ussion		65
	6.5.	Hypoxia	a-inducible factor 1 alpha	63
	6.4.	Bone m	arrow-derived myocyte progenitor cells	62

## 1. Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin converting enzyme					
Ac-SDKP	N-acetyl-Ser-Asp-Lys-Pro					
Ang-(1-7)	Angiotensin (1-7)					
BMSC	Bone marrow-derived stem cells					
BM-SHAM	Bone marrow-transplanted sham-operated mice					
BM-SHAM+RAM	Bone marrow-transplanted sham-operated mice treated with					
	ramipril					
BM-TAC	Bone marrow-transplanted mice after transaortic constriction					
BM-TAC+RAM	Bone marrow-transplanted mice after transaortic constriction					
	treated with ramipril					
BMT	Bone marrow transplantation					
BSA	Bovine serum-albumin					
CSC	Cardiac stem cells					
EPC	Endothelial progenitor cells					
EPO	Erythropoietin					
ESC	Embryonic stem cells					
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorter					
Fig.	Figure					
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate					
G-CSF	Granulocyte/macrophage colony stimulating factor					
GFP	Green fluorescent protein					
H&E	Hematoxylin-eosin staining					
HIF-1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha					
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase					
LV	Left ventricle					
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction					
LVH	Left ventricular hypertrophy					
MEF-2	Myocyte enhancer factor-2					
MI	Myocardial infarction					
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cells					
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline					
PE	Phycoerythrin					
PECAM-1	Platelet endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1					

RAAS	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
rpm	Revolutions per minute
RT	Room temperature
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
Sca-1	Stem cell antigen 1
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SHAM	Sham-operated animals
1dSHAM	One-day sham-operated animals
SHAM+RAM	Sham-operated animals treated with ramipril
1dSHAM+RAM	One-day sham-operated animals treated with ramipril
SSC	Sodium chloride Sodium citrate
TAC	Transverse aortic constriction and animals with transverse aortic
	constriction
1dTAC	One-day TAC-operated animals
TAC+RAM	Animals undergoing transverse aortic constriction and treated with
	ramipril
1dTAC+RAM	One-day TAC-operated animals treated with ramipril
TRITC	Tetramethyl rhodamine isothiocyanate
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VEGFR-2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2
VSELs	Very small embryonic-like stem cells

#### 2. Summary

**Introduction:** Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. For this reason stimulation of heart regeneration would be of paramount importance. In this study the short- and long-term effects of the angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor ramipril on myocardial regeneration and cardiac remodeling in increased cardiac afterload were investigated using the mouse model of transverse aortic constriction for one day and five weeks. To study the impact of bone marrow-derived cells on cardiac remodeling and regeneration the mouse model of bone marrow transplantation was utilized.

Methods: For experiments ten-week-old male wild-type mice (C57/Bl6 and FVB/NJ) were used. Bone marrow for bone marrow transplantation (BMT) was obtained from six-week-old mice: C57Bl/6-Tg(ACTbEGFP)1Osb (express green fluorescent protein (GFP) ubiquitary) and Tg(Tie-2GFP)287Sato (express GFP only in endothelial cells). Ramipril (5 mg per body weight per day) or vehicle administration started 3 days before surgery and continued until the end of each set of experiments. Transverse aortic constriction (TAC) or sham operation was performed, after which animals were separated into for groups: two experimental groups (SHAM+RAMIPRIL and TAC+RAMIPRIL) and two control groups (TAC and SHAM). Blood pressure measurement was carried out in all animals on the tail artery during the 5 last days of each set of experiments, whereupon they were anaesthetized and left ventricular (LV)-pressure was measured. Then hearts were rapidly excised, partly fixed in formalin, partly snap frozen in liquid nitrogen. Blood and bone marrow from animals without bone marrow transplantation were collected to perform fluorescence-activated cell sorter (FACS) analysis of endothelial progenitor cells (EPC's). The migration capacity of spleen-derived EPC's was evaluated by modified Boyden chamber. Extracardiac neoangiogenesis was investigated by a disc angiogenesis model. Expression and protein level of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in the left ventricle were determined by quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and western blot respectively. Collagen content in the myocardium was estimated by picrosirius red staining. The measurement of cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter was performed using sections stained with Ehrlich's hematoxylin and eosin. Immunostaining on cardiac paraffin sections was carried out to identify distinct types of myocardial cells. The apoptosis detection in heart sections was performed by the ApopTag Peroxidase In Situ Oligo Ligation Assay.

Results: As expected, TAC increased left ventricular systolic pressure in both types of experiments and diminished systolic and diastolic peripheral blood pressure in the 5-week experiment. Despite the fact that ramipril did not affect both ventricular and peripheral blood pressure, it ameliorated pressure overload-induced cardiac remodeling by diminishing left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH) and cardiac fibrosis. Cardiac cell turnover (apoptosis and proliferation of cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes and apoptosis rate in endothelial cells) was increased in the TAC mice and in all groups of BMT mice. Ramipril normalized cell turnover in the pressure-overloaded heart by reducing the number of apoptotic cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells and the number of proliferating cardiomyocytes. In the myocardium of ramipriltreated BMT mice these effects were supplemented by a decrease of apoptosis rate in noncardiomyocytes. Pressure overload for 5 weeks impaired myocardial capillarisation by reducing the density of endothelial cells, but promoted extracardiac capillary growth. In contrast, ramipril stimulated both extracardiac and cardiac capillary growth in all groups that manifested itself in the heart as an increase of the density of endothelial cells, the ratio of endothelial cells to cardiomyocytes and the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes. This enhanced neoangiogenesis can be partly explained by a ramipril-induced increase of EPC numbers in the bone marrow and their augmented mobilization in the blood observed in the short-term experiment. These effects, however, disappeared after 5 weeks of ramipril treatment. While one-day TAC increased EPC level only in the blood, pressure overload for 5 weeks raised their numbers both in the blood and in the bone marrow. In both short- and long-term experiments ramipril ameliorated migratory capacity of EPC's. Pressure overload of the left ventricle for 5 weeks increased the number of bone marrow-derived CD31 cells, but reduced the density of bone marrow-derived Tie-2positive cells therein. By contrast, ramipril enhanced both parameters in the TAC mice promoting thereby myocardial capillary growth. Treatment with ramipril in both short- and longterm experiments decreased myocardial mRNA and protein level of HIF-1a in all groups. Increased cardiac afterload and treatment with ramipril for 5 weeks upregulated the number of bone marrow-derived myocyte progenitor cells in the myocardium. The combination of TAC and ramipril treatment provided no additional effect.

**Conclusion:** Our findings testify that aside from its antihypertensive action, ramipril has other beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system, which include amelioration of cardiac remodeling, stimulation of cardiac and extracardiac neoangiogenesis and mobilization of bone marrow-derived progenitor cells participating in myocardial regeneration

## 2. Zusammenfassung

# Einfluss der Inhibition des Angiotensin-konvertierenden Enzyms auf Myokardregeneration und kardiales Remodeling vermittelt durch dem Knochenmark entstammende Stammzellen bei druckinduzierter Nachlasterhöhung

**Einleitung:** Herz-Kreislauf-Erkrankungen sind die wichtigste Ursache für Morbidität und Mortalität weltweit. Aus diesem Grund wäre eine Stimulation der Herzregeneration von höchster Bedeutung. In der vorliegenden Arbeit wurden kurz- und langfristige Effekte von Ramipril, einem Hemmer des Angiotensin-konvertierenden Enzyms, auf Myokardregeneration und kardiales Remodeling bei kardialer Nachlasterhöhung mit Hilfe des Mausmodells der Aortenligatur für 1 Tag und 5 Wochen erforscht. Der Beitrag der dem Knochenmark entstammenden Stammzellen zu Myokardregeneration und kardialem Remodeling wurde mittels des Mausmodells der Knochenmarktransplantation untersucht.

Methoden: Für die Experimente wurden 10 Wochen alte Wildtyp-Mäuse (C57/Bl6 und FVB/NJ) verwendet. Knochenmark für die Transplantation wurde 6 Wochen alten Mäusen -C57Bl/6-Tg(ACTbEGFP)1Osb (exprimieren grün fluoreszierendes Protein (GFP) überall) und Tg(Tie-2GFP)287Sato (exprimieren GFP nur in Endothelzellen) entnommen. Die Gabe von Ramipril (5 mg pro kg Körpergewicht pro Tag) wurde 3 Tage vor der Operation begonnen und bis zum Ende jeder Experimentserie fortgesetzt. Nach Durchführung von Aortenligatur (TAC) bzw. SHAM-Operation wurden die Tiere in 4 Gruppen eingeteilt: 2 experimentelle Gruppen (SHAM+RAMIPRIL und TAC+RAMIPRIL) und 2 Kontrollgruppen (SHAM und TAC). Blutdruckmessung wurde bei allen Tieren an der Schwanzarterie innerhalb der 5 letzten Tagen jeder Experimentserie gemessen, danach wurden sie anästhesiert und eine Messung des linksventrikulären Drucks wurde durchgeführt. Herzen wurden sofort entnommen und teilweise in Formalin fixiert bzw. in flüssigem Stickstoff schockgefroren. Blut und Knochenmark wurden von den nichtknochenmarktransplantierten Tieren zum Tötungszeitpunkt gewonnen, um EPC's mittels FACS-Analyse zu quantifizieren. Die migratorische Kapazität von EPC's aus der Milz wurde in einer modifizierten Boyden-Kammer determiniert. Extrakardiale Neoangiogenese wurde anhand von subkutan implantierten Disks untersucht. Expressions- und Proteinniveau von HIF-1a wurden mittels quantitativer RT-PCR und Western Blot bestimmt. Die Picro-Sirius-Rot gefärbten Paraffinschnitte wurden für die Auswertung des Kollagengehalts im Myokard verwendet. Der Kardiomyozytenquerdurchmesser wurde morphometrisch anhand von Hämatoxilin-Eosin gefärbten Paraffinschnitten ermittelt. Immunfärbungen an kardialen Paraffinschnitten wurden durchgeführt, um verschiedene Zelltypen zu bestimmen. Apoptose-Detektion in Herzgewebe wurde mit Hilfe des Apop Tag Peroxidase In Situ Oligo Ligation Assays durchgeführt.

Ergebnisse: Wie zu erwarten war, erhöhte TAC wesentlich den linksventrikulären Druck in beiden Experimenttypen und senkte den systolischen und den diastolischen peripheren Blutdruck im 5-Wochen Versuch. Obwohl Ramipril weder den ventrikulären noch den peripheren Blutdruck beeinflusste, verbesserte es das druckinduzierte kardiale Remodeling durch Hemmung von linksventrikulärer Hypertrophie (LVH) und kardialer Fibrose. Der Zellumsatz im Herzen (Apoptose und Proliferation von Kardiomyozyten und Nichtkardiomyozyten und Apoptoseanteil in Endothelzellen) war bei den Aortenligatur-Mäusen und in allen Gruppen von knochenmarktransplantierten Mäusen erhöht. Ramipril normalisierte den Zellumsatz in druckbelasteten Herzen durch die Verminderung der Anzahl von apoptotischen Kardiomyozyten und Endothelzellen und der Anzahl der Ki-67-positiven Kardiomyozyten. Im Myokard von Ramipril behandelten knochenmarktransplantierten Mäusen wurden diese Effekte durch die Apoptoseanteils in Nichtkardiomyozyten ergänzt. Reduzierung des Druckinduzierte Nachlasterhöhung über 5 Wochen beeinträchtigte die Kapillarisierung des Myokards. Dies äußerte sich in einer Reduzierung der Endothelzelldichte. Aortenligatur förderte jedoch die extrakardiale Neoangiogenese. Ramipril hingegen stimulierte sowohl extrakardiales als auch kardiales Kapillarwachstum in allen Gruppen. Im Myokard erhöhte die Ramiprilbehandlung die Endothelzelldichte, das Verhältnis von Endothelzellen zu Kardiomyozyten und das Verhältnis von Kapillaren zu Kardiomyozyten. Diese verstärkte Neoangiogenese kann teilweise durch Ramipril-induzierte Steigerung der EPC-Anzahl in Knochenmark und Blut und ihre Mobilisierung in das Blut, die im kurzfristigen Versuch beobachtet wurden, erklärt werden. Diese Effekte waren allerdings nach 5 Wochen Ramiprilbehandlung nicht mehr nachzuweisen. Während Aortenligatur nach 1 Tag das EPC-Niveau nur im Blut erhöhte, führte kardiale Nachlasterhöhung für 5 Wochen zu einem Anstieg von EPC's sowohl im peripheren Blut als auch im Knochenmark. In beiden Experimenttypen verbesserte Ramipril die migratorische Kapazität der EPC's. Die kardiale Druckerhöhung für 5 Wochen erhöhte die Anzahl der dem Knochenmark entstammenden GFP-positiven, CD31-positiven Zellen, aber verminderte die Dichte der dem Knochenmark entstammenden Tie-2-positiven Zellen im Myokard. Dagegen kam es bei den Ramipril-behandelten Aortenligatur-Mäusen zu einer signifikanten Erhöhung dieser Parameter. Die ACE-Hemmung senkt die myokardiale mRNA und Protein Expression von HIF-1α bei allen Tieren in beiden Experimenttypen. Die kardiale Nachlasterhöhung und die Ramiprilbehandlung über 5 Wochen, aber nicht ihre Kombination, führten zu einem Anstieg von dem Knochenmark entstammenden MEF-2-positiven Vorläuferzellen im Myokard.

**Schlussfolgerung:** Unsere Ergebnisse weisen darauf hin, dass Ramipril, außer seiner antihypertensiven Wirkung, auch andere günstige Effekte auf das kardiovaskuläre System ausübt, die die Verbesserung des kardialen Remodelings, die Stimulation von kardialer und extrakardialer Neoangiogenese sowie die Mobilisierung der dem Knochenmark entstammenden Vorläuferzellen, die an der Myokardregeneration beteiligt sind, umfassen.

#### 3. Introduction

#### 3.1. Potential of heart regeneration

Cardiovascular diseases are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Although their pathogenic mechanisms are different, they ultimately lead to a loss of distinct cardiac cells (cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells of coronary vessels) and elicit cardiac fibrosis that in turn deteriorates cardiac performance resulting thereby in heart failure (139). For this reason the potential of heart regeneration has become the topic of large body of research.

It was assumed for a long time that in adult mammals, especially in human beings, all heart damages are healed by scar formation since most researchers have observed only fragmentary regenerative phenomena such as amitotic and, only very rarely, mitotic division of nuclei in muscle fibers or myogenic cells at the edge of the scar (115, 116). These myogenic cells or myoblasts were first discovered by Oppel and Anichkow (6, 7, 105). According to them, myoblasts separated from the destroyed muscular stumps and mixed with the cells of connective tissues forming "myogenic granulations" in the perinecrotic area. However, some authors detected newly formed cardiomyocytes (myoblasts) in the middle of scar tissue. In particular, Ring (124) described them in postinfarction scar in rabbit. These cells existed for a short time and were replaced by connective tissue. Detailed histological description of newly formed cardiomyocytes was presented by Polezhaev et al. (115, 116) in experiments with diathermal coagulation of a sector of myocardium in adult rats. They appeared as single cells or chains of myoblasts around 7 days after the operation in the center of the damage. Twenty days later the myoblasts were transformed into islets of muscle fibers surrounded by connective tissue scar. 45 days after the diathermal coagulation the islets disappeared and were finally replaced by connective tissue. Polezhaev speculated that they arose from cells released from muscle stumps or from undifferentiated cells of connective tissue which migrated in the damage zone and thereafter transdifferentiated into myoblasts under the influence of substances from destroyed cardiomyocytes. However, these newly formed cardiomyocytes were not found after damage of myocardium induced by burning, strong vacuum and ligation of the coronary arteries. Polezhaev concluded that "the resultant regeneration or scar formation depends of the nature of the damage, which means that there is a basis for the regeneration processes of muscle fibers in the heart" (115). The newly formed cardiomyocytes from different species shared common morphological traits: they were fine, not striated and sarcoplasma-rich. Further investigation carried out by Skuba (141) using immunostaining techniques revealed the presence of cardiac myosin in myoblasts. However, for some reason these findings were contradictory: first not all scientists investigating heart regeneration found these cells, secondly some of them believed that they were not true cardiomyocytes, but most probably fibroblasts or smooth muscle cells (104, 115, 116, 128).

The evidence for an increase of cardiomyocyte number in heart hypertrophy was gained in the late forties of last century. In particular, Linzbach formulated a rule based on pathological studies, according to which the number of myofibers in human myocardium rises if heart weight exceeds 500 g (81, 82). Animal experiments also demonstrated that 50-60% increase of cardiac mass augmented cardiomyocytes number (65, 67) without changing mitotic rate in mature cardiomyocytes. Authors speculated, that new cardiomyocytes might originate from either nondifferentiated cardiac cells (myoblasts) or from division of partly differentiated cardiomyocytes with 2-4 nuclei, however it was methodically impossible to prove it (65).

Development of new research methods allowed to better understand the natural ability of the heart to regenerate. Using cells labeled with different markers (GFP, Y chromosome, or species specific DNA sequences and antigens) the formation of new cells from bone marrowderived and resident stem cells in adult hearts was shown. In particular, GFP-positive cardiac cells (cardiomyocytes, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells) were found in different models of myocardial damage: transaortic constriction (35), heart infarction (89) and pulmonary hypertension (144). Furthermore, several studies on cardiac chimerism have revealed cardiomyocytes and other cell types of noncardiac origin containing a Y chromosome in sexmismatched-transplanted female donor hearts (74, 96, 112, 120) and in hearts of women who received a gender-mismatched bone marrow transplantation (15, 31, 153). It should be stressed, that the number of these cells pointed out by different investigators is small, so the number of chimeric cardiomyocytes varied from one in 10<sup>4</sup>-10<sup>3</sup> to 18% of total cardiomyocytes (15, 31, 74, 96, 112, 120, 153). However, some authors have reported that so-called newly formed cells especially cardiomyocytes could arise from fusion of labeled cells with adult cardiac cells (4) or could be products of horizontal gene transfer (22). Moreover, it is possible, that some kinds of histological artifacts mimic distinct types of newly formed cardiac cells (75). Thus, the myocardium possesses the restricted ability to regenerate itself by forming different types of new cells (cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells) originating from bone marrowderived stem cells or resident stem cells, however their number is not sufficient to restore cardiac performance and to prevent development of heart failure.

#### 3.2. Proliferation of distinct cells in the heart

During embryogenesis and early postnatal period mammalian myocardium demonstrates a high proliferation rate of cardiomyocytes and other cardiac cells, however in the course of time their number significantly decreases (62, 104, 128, 130). In particular, studies carried out on biopsies obtained from transplanted adult human hearts revealed either very low number of Ki-67-positive cardiomyocytes (112) or did not find them at all while some stromal and endocardial fibroblasts and also few endothelial cells expressed proliferation markers (101). Cardiovascular diseases reverse the situation by eliciting a proliferative response of distinct cells in the heart (57, 139).

Slight abortive regeneration of cardiac fibers in different parts of myocardium (single mitosis, amitosis and cell nucleus fragmentation) was described by many authors both in animal experiments and pathological studies (6, 7, 61, 105, 115, 116). Using autoradiography with H<sup>3</sup>-timidine (63, 103, 127, 129) in a rat model of heart infarction, predominant localization of these cells in the myocardium of both atria (40-50%) and in the subepicardial layer of left ventricle (15-35%) was shown. Myofibers located in other perinecrotic areas contained markedly fewer labeled cardiomyocytes (1-4%). Recent investigations have confirmed the presence of dividing cells with the characteristics of immature cardiomyocytes in the myocardium of patients suffering from heart infarction or cardiac hypertrophy caused by aortic stenosis (13, 160).

Myocardial growth and restoration require adequate blood supply. New blood vessels in adult organism originate from two sources. The minor source is endothelial progenitor cells from the bone marrow, the major source is the vessels of injured tissue containing adult endothelial cells capable of mitosis and resident precursors of endothelial cells (146, 181). Using immunostaining for the endothelial cell marker CD31, proliferation cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) and BrdU some authors revealed dividing endothelial cells in remodeling myocardium (46, 167). However, despite of myocardial vasculogenesis and angiogenesis, capillary number is not sufficient to maintain adequate blood supply and this, among other reasons, leads to further loss of cardiomyocytes (57, 139) and promotes enhanced proliferation of fibroblasts undergoing myofibroblast differentiation resulting in cardiac fibrosis (38). Thus, cardiac cell division in cardiovascular diseases can not completely compensate loss of mature cardiomyocytes and vascular cells.

#### 3.3. Bone marrow stem cells for heart regeneration

As discussed above, modern investigations have confirmed the hypothesis that mature cardiac cells in adult mammalians can originate from undifferentiated bone marrow-derived cells circulating in the blood (15, 31, 35, 144, 153). In particular, Polezhaev suggested that newly formed cardiomyocytes might partly arise from circulating bone marrow stem cells, because many cardiomyocytes with H<sup>3</sup>-timidine-labeled nuclei were found in the scar tissue near blood vessels (117). The bone marrow is known to be an excellent source of different types of stem cells: e.g. hematopoietic stem cells, endothelial progenitor cells, mesenchymal stem cells and very small embryonic-like stem cells. Hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) can be isolated from bone marrow through selective sorting for a particular set of surface receptors: Lineage<sup>-</sup>, c-kit<sup>+</sup>, Sca-1<sup>+</sup>, CD34<sup>lo</sup>, CD38<sup>hi</sup> (107, 142). Some studies have demonstrated the potential of HSC to differentiate into cardiomyocytes or vascular cells after myocardial damage in vivo (54, 106, 107).

Endothelial progenitor cells (EPC) represent a subset of hematopoietic stem cells expressing the hematopoietic markers CD133, CD34, stem-cell marker (Sca-1) and endothelial marker Flk-1 (VEGFR-2) (109). EPC can acquire an endothelial phenotype, repair injured vessels and contribute to neovascularisation of damaged tissues (10, 50, 56, 169, 173). Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) are the population of nonhematopoietic cells that resides within the bone marrow stroma and have potential of multipotency (39, 54). Subsequent studies have shown their ability to differentiate into chondrocytes, osteoblasts, astrocytes, neurons, skeletal muscle, and, notably, cardiomyocytes (11, 86, 106, 111). MSC are positive for the antigens SH2, SH3, SH4, STRO-1, CD29, CD34 and CD14 (29).

Very small embryonic-like stem cells (VSELs) were recently identified in murine bone marrow and human umbilical cord blood (70, 71). They are very small and express markers of embryonic pluripotent stem cells such as Oct-3/4, Nanog, SSEA-1. Murine VSELs can differentiate into cell lineages from all 3 germ layers, among them mesoderm-derived cardiomyocytes (70). All types of the BMSCs are mobilized and recruited to the heart after myocardial injury (58, 87, 107, 137, 175) through secretion of different biological active substances such as colony-stimulating factors, erythropoietin, growth factors, hormones and nitric monoxide by damaged tissue (20). According to recent investigations an important role in the stem-cell mobilization and stimulation of angiogenesis in response to hypoxia and ischemia plays hypoxia-inducible factor 1, which activates expression of many genes involved in tissue protection, regeneration and vessel growth (49). Thus, bone marrow-derived stem cells

participate actively in the heart regeneration by differentiating into distinct types of cardiac cells. This presents an opportunity to use them for restoration of damaged myocardium.

#### 3.4. Stimulation of heart regeneration

The first attempt to stimulate regeneration of damaged myocardium with extracts of animal embryo hearts was made by Törö (156). Further regular experiments on stimulation of heart regeneration were undertaken by the research group of Polezhaev (115-117). Rat and rabbit myocardium injured by diathermocoagulation or by induction of diphtherial myocarditis was treated by intraperitoneal injection of hydrolysates of cardiac and skeletal muscle, grafts of skeletal muscle, brain, and peripheral nerve to the necrotic area and intramuscular injections of cobalt-35 preparations. The aim was to recruit circulating stem cells to the injury area and/or to stimulate division of mature cardiomyocytes with the help of biological active substances from tissues. The authors observed a limited number of newly formed striated myofibers in the middle of the scar tissue. Advances in experimental biology and medicine in the 1990s created several therapeutic approaches to stimulate heart regeneration.

Biological active substances such as cytokines, growth factors and drugs can be utilized for mobilization of BMSC and activation of CSC (20). Orlic et al. (107) were the first to use a combined therapy of G-CSF and stem-cell factor in a murine model of myocardial infarction and showed a significant improvement in left ventricular remodeling, cardiac function and animal survival within 5 days of treatment. Some other studies carried out on this model demonstrated an increased amount of CSC and BMSC in the infarcted heart (2, 40). However, there are other reports that G-CSF does not significantly recruit BMSC and stimulate cardiomyocytes regeneration (76). The results of the major clinical trials conducted using G-CSF in the treatment of cardiac disease are very contradictory. Although FIRSTLINE-AMI and The Rigenera Study (51, 77) trials demonstrated mobilization of CD34<sup>+</sup> in peripheral blood and improved left ventricular ejection fraction in the G-CSF treated patients, results of STEMMI and REVIVAL-2 (125, 187) did not reveal any difference between groups.

Animal experiments described the beneficial effects of erythropoietin (EPO) in the heart. In particular, EPO significantly downregulated apoptosis of cardiomyocytes, induced myocardial angiogenesis by EPC mobilization in rats and dogs with MI (48, 94, 118). The clinical trial HEBE III is currently under way to estimate the efficacy of EPO in treatment of MI (12). There is plethora of other biological active substances whose ability to stimulate heart regeneration after MI has been proven in animal experiments: e.g. insulin-like growth factor-1, hepatocyte growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor, stromal cell derived factor-1 and high mobility group box 1 (1, 37, 78, 161, 166). They stimulate migration of CSC and BMSC to the infarcted area, promote their proliferation and survival and restore cardiac function by improving neovascularisation and myocardial tissue viability. Also it has been found, that some drugs - for example ACE inhibitors and statins - can mobilize EPC from bone marrow stimulating thereby myocardial neoangiogenesis (154).

Another approach to restoration of injured myocardium is to use stem-cell transplantation. Currently, various stem-cell populations have been analyzed for their ability to induce heart regeneration. In vivo studies based on heart transplantation of both murine and human ESC demonstrated their ability to contribute to a consistent number of newly formed cardiomyocytes and, therefore, highlight their therapeutic potential (59, 64, 90). However, several problems limiting ESC use must be solved before their clinical application can be possible: presence of unwanted non-cardiac cells, tumorigenicity and immunogenicity (146). For these reasons adult stem cells - especially different types of BMSCs - are widely used to stimulate cardiac regeneration. Bone marrow-derived stem cells can be relatively easy isolated from patient, expanded in vitro and transplanted into his heart without eliciting immune response. Although no methods have been established to induce a functional cardiac phenotype in BMSCs in vitro, numerous experimental and clinical studies have shown that their transplantation can improve left ventricular function and reduce adverse heart remodeling (28, 45, 158). However, as in the case of stimulation of heart regeneration with G-CSF, clinical effects of intracoronary infusion of bone marrow-derived cells in patients with MI or ischemic cardiomyopathy are contradictory. Whereas absolute increase in LVEF was demonstrated in BOOST, REPAIR-AMI and IACT trials, infarct size reduction and improvement of infarction wall movement velocity were observed only in IACT study (134, 147, 176). Two other randomized trials (55, 85) did not report improvements in the LVEF after intracoronary transplantation of bone marrow cells. Importantly, however, the study conducted by Janssens et al (55) did reveal a significant reduction in infarct size using robust cardiac magnetic resonance imaging.

Data obtained from animal experiments demonstrate different mechanisms by which transplanted cells can ameliorate cardiac function: transdifferentiation into cardiomyocytes (106), differentiation into endothelial cells to promote angiogenesis (52), fusion with different types of cardiac cells to enhance their viability (102) and secretion of biological active substances stimulating regeneration (24, 162).

The third approach to restore injured myocardium is to stimulate division of mature cardiomyocytes forcing their cell-cycle block. In particular, experimental findings have demonstrated that both inhibition of negative regulators of cell cycle such as p21 <sup>WAF1</sup> and

p27<sup>KIP1</sup> and overexpression of positive regulators of cell division such as members of the retinoblastoma family or the cyclin-cyclin dependent kinases lead to persistent adult cardiomyocyte cycling (3). Thus, new experimental and clinical data on stimulation of heart regeneration demonstrate the efficacy of different approaches. However, further investigations are required before they could be introduced into routine clinical practice.

#### 3.5. Effects of the ACE inhibitor Ramipril on cardiac remodeling

Both experimental and clinical studies demonstrated beneficial effects of treatment with ACE inhibitors in the cardiovascular diseases (172). This is because the RAAS is involved at all stages of the cardiovascular continuum and promotes such parts of cardiac remodeling as: hypertrophy, fibrosis, apoptosis and reduction in capillary number (33). Ramipril is one of the most widely used ACE inhibitors in the routine clinical practice. For this reason its efficacy in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases has been tested in some clinical trials. Results of the HOPE study have demonstrated that ramipril decreases the development and causes regression of LVH independent of blood pressure reduction, and these changes are associated with reduced risk of death, myocardial infarction, stroke, and congestive heart failure in a high-risk cohort of patients with previous cardiovascular diseases and diabetes (30, 88). Furthermore, as it was shown in the MITRA PLUS trial, ramipril has advantages over other ACE inhibitors in reduction of hospital mortality and of nonfatal major adverse coronary and cerebrovascular events in patients with STelevation acute myocardial infarction (174). Experimental findings also demonstrated complete prevention or regression of LVH and cardiac fibrosis under the influence of both antihypertensive and non-antihypertensive ramipril doses in different animal models (79, 80). Cardiomyocyte loss through apoptosis in pressure overload and in essential hypertension also could be prevented by treatment with ramipril (98). As discussed above, inadequate blood supply of myocardium contributes to cardiac remodeling. Ramipril significantly increased myocardial capillary length density in spontaneously hypertensive rats and stroke prone rats independently of its antihypertensive and antihypertrophic actions (184). Thus, both clinical and experimental data demonstrate the ability of the ACE inhibitor ramipril to reduce or even to prevent cardiac remodeling.

#### 4. Aims of the study

Stimulation of heart regeneration and prevention of cardiac remodeling in cardiovascular diseases could be reached through the mobilization of BMSC by different biological active substances. At the same time, some drugs, in particular the ACE inhibitor ramipril, possess the ability to protect myocardium against remodeling by reducing LVH and cardiac fibrosis, diminishing cardiomyocyte apoptosis and stimulating capillary growth. This raises the question whether this protection is partly caused by mobilization of BMSC, enhancement of their migratory capacity and impact of these cells on heart regeneration. Transverse aortic constriction (TAC) is a widely used model for investigation of cardiac remodeling in pressure overload. On the other hand, it was shown that TAC also enhances expression of ACE in LV and therefore is suitable to study different effects of ACE inhibitors (183). For this reasons, it was chosen for the experiments.

On this basis, we have formulated the aims of our study:

- 1. to investigate short-term and long-term effects of ramipril on left ventricular remodeling in pressure overload, using a mouse transverse aortic constriction model
- 2. to characterize effects of ramipril on turnover of cardiac cells in LVH
- to investigate the influence of ramipril on cardiac and extracardiac capillary growth as well as on bone marrow-derived EPC's
- 4. to explore the impact of BMSC on cardiomyogenesis in hypertrophied adult heart and the opportunity to enhance heart regeneration with ramipril
- 5. to clarify HIF-1 $\alpha$  involvement in EPC mobilization and angiogenesis in pressure overload and to elucidate the influence of ramipril thereon

## 5. Materials and Methods

#### 5.1. Materials

#### 5.1.1. Animals

Ten-week-old male wild-type mice (C57/Bl6 and FVB/N), purchased from Charles River Laboratories, Sulzfeld, Germany, were used in our experiments. For the bone marrow transplantations GFP-expressing bone marrow cells were obtained from six-week-old C57Bl/6-Tg(ACTbEGFP)1Osb mice (expressing GFP ubiquitary) and from six-week-old Tg(Tie-2GFP)287Sato mice (express GFP under the control of the Tie-2 promoter). Both mice lines were from Jackson laboratory. The study was approved by the animal ethics committee of the Universität des Saarlandes. Mice were housed under standard controlled conditions.

#### 5.1.2. Chemicals

30% Acrylamide solution; Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany Albumin, Bovine, Fraction V; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Ammonium persulfate (APS); Serva, Germany Amplific Diluent; PerkinElmer Life Sciences, Inc., USA Ampuwa distillate and deionized water; Fresenius Kabi, Germany Aprotinin; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Bromphenol blue; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany ß-mercaptoethanol; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany β-glycerolphosphate; Calbiochem, USA Citraconic acid anhydride; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Citric acid monohydrate; Merck, Germany 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI); Calbiochem, Germany Diethylpirocarbonat (DEPC); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Di-sodium hydrogenphosphat; Merck, Germany DiLDL; Cell Systems, Germany Dimethylsulfoxid (DMSO); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Dithiothreitol (DTT); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany DNAse I; Roche, Germany Dry milk powder; TSI, Germany Ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Ethylene diamin tetraacetic acid (EDTA); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany EBM- Endothelial Cell Basal Medium; Lonza, USA ECM- Endothelial Cell Medium; Lonza, USA Enthellan; Merck, Germany Eosin; Merck, Germany E-64; Uptima, France Ethanol; Merck, Germany Ficoll ( $\rho$ = 1.077 g/ml); Biochrom, Germany Fetal Bovine Serum; PAA Laboratories, Germany Full Range Rainbow recombinant protein molecular weight marker; GE Healthcare, USA Glycerol; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Glycine; WVR, Germany Goat Serum; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Hematoxilin; Merck, Germany 4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid (HEPES); Merck, Germany Hydrochloric acid 37%; Merck, Germany Hydrogen peroxide; Merck, Germany Immerse oil; Merck, Germany Isotonic sodium chloride solution; B.Braun, Germany Kliniplast paraffin-based medium for tissue embedding; Klinika Medical, Germany Leupeptin; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Liquid nitrogen; Messer, Germany Lysing Buffer for FACS; BD Bioscience, Germany Methanol; Merck, Germany Microcystin; Alexis Biochemicals, Switzerland Normal Mouse Serum; Dianova, Germany Normal Rat Serum; Dianova, Germany Paraformaldehyd; Merck, Germany 10x PCR buffer; Roche, Germany peqGOLD RNA Pure; Peqlab Biotechnology, Germany Phenylmethanesulphonylfluoride (PMSF); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Picric acid; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Ponceau S solution for electrophoresis; Serva, Germany Potassium chlorid; Merck, Germany Potassium dihydrogenphosphat; Merck, Germany Rabbit Serum; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Random primer; Roche, Germany RNasin; Promega, USA Sirius Red; Polysciences Inc., Germany Sodium azide; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Sodium chloride; Merck, Germany Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS); Serva, Germany Sodium hydroxide; Merck, Germany Sodium orthovanadate; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Streptavidin-TRITC; Dianova, Germany Tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane (Tris); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Tri-sodium citrate-dihydrat; Merck, Germany Triton X-100; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Trypsin; Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Tyramide biotinylated; PerkinElmer Life Sciences, Inc., USA Tween 20 (Polyoxyethyenesorbitan); Sigma-Aldrich, Germany Vectashield Mounting Medium for Fluorescence; Linaris, Germany Western Blocking Reagent; Roche, Germany Xylen; Merck, Germany

#### 5.1.3. Antibodies

Antibodies used in the study are listed below in the tables 1 and 2.

Antibody	Host	-gl	-gl	-bl	Producer	Catalogue
		fraction	concentration	dilution		number
		Imr	nunostaining			
monoclonal anti-alpha-sarcomeric actin	Mouse	IgM	1.00 mg/ml	1:100	Sigma-Aldrich, Germany	A2172
monoclonal anti-alpha-smooth muscle actin	Mouse	lgG2a	4.5 mg/ml	1:100	Sigma-Aldrich, Germany	A2547
oolyclonal anti-PECAM-1 (CD31)	Goat	lgG (	0.2 mg/ml	1:15	Santa-Cruz Biotechnology, USA	sc-1506
oolyclonal anti-Ki67	Rabbit	lgG	12.0-30.0 g/l	1:150	Novocastra Laboratories LTD, UK	NCL-Ki67p
oolyclonal anti-MEF-2	Rabbit	lgG (	0.2 mg/ml	1:30	Santa-Cruz Biotechnology, USA	sc-313
oolyclonal anti-podocalyxin	Goat	lgG (	0.2 mg/ml	1:100	R&D Systems, Germany	AF1556
oolyclonal anti-GFP	Rabbit	lgG N	whole serum	1:300	abcam, UK	ab290
oolyclonal anti-GFP	Goat	lgG	1.15 mg/ml	1:100	abcam, UK	ab6673
			FACS			
anti-Sca-1-FITC	Rat	lgG2a, k (	0.5 mg/ml	1:20	BD Bioscience, Germany	553335
anti-VEGFR-2	Rat	IgG2a, k (	0.2 mg/ml	1:20	BD Bioscience, Germany	555308
Anti-CD16/CD32 Mouse BD Fc Block <sup>TM</sup>	Rat	lgG2b (	0.5 mg/ml	1:6	BD Bioscience, Germany	553142
PE Rat IgG2a, k Isotype Control	Rat	IgG2a, k I	0.2 mg/ml	1:20	BD Bioscience, Germany	553930
PE Rat IgG2a, k Isotype Control	Rat	IgG2a, k I	0.5 mg/ml	1:20	BD Bioscience, Germany	553929
		N	lestern Blot			
monoclonal anti-HIF-1α	Mouse	lgG2b	4.0 mg/ml	1:200	Novus Biologicals, USA	NB100-105
monoclonal anti-β-tubulin	Rabbit	lgG	1.12 mg/ml	1:1000	abcam, UK	ab52623

**Table 1 Primary antibodies** 

Antibody	Conjugated	Host	Producer	Concentration	Catalogue
	with				number
anti-mouse IgM	FITC	Goat	Dianova, Germany	1.5 mg/ml	115-095-020
anti-mouse IgM	TRITC	Goat	Dianova, Germany	1.3 mg/ml	115-025-044
anti-rabbit IgG	FITC	Donkey	Dianova, Germany	1.5 mg/ml	711-095-152
anti-goat IgG	FITC	Donkey	Dianova, Germany	1.5 mg/ml	705-095-147
anti-rabbit IgG	HRP	Goat	Sigma-Aldrich, Germany	1.1 mg/ml	A6154
anti-goat IgG	HRP	Rabbit	Sigma-Aldrich, Germany	7.6 mg/ml	A5420
anti-rabbit IgG	Biotin	Donkey	Dianova, Germany	1.2 mg/ml	711-065-152

#### Table 2 Secondary antibodies

## 5.1.4. Assays and kits

ApopTag Peroxidase In Situ Oligo Ligation Kit; Millipore Chemicon, USA DC protein assay; Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany Enhanced chemiluminescence kit; GE Healthcare, USA Omniscript RT Kit; Qiagen, Germany TaqMan Gene expression assay for Hif-1α; Applied Biosystems, USA TaqMan Gene expression assay for 18 sRNA; Applied Biosystems, USA TaqMan gene expression master mix; Applied Biosystems, USA

## 5.1.5. Drugs

Ramipril; Sanofi-Aventis, Germany Ketamine; Pfizer, USA Xylazine; Bayer, Germany

#### 5.1.6. Solutions

10xPBS: (pH 7.4)	80.0 g NaCl 2.0 g KCl 2.0 g KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> 6.149 g Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub> per 1 liter Ampuwa
1xPBS:	100 ml 10xPBS
(pH 7.4)	900 ml Ampuwa
	and 100 ml Tween 20 for 1xPBS+0.1%Tween
20xSSC:	175.32 g NaCl
(pH 7.0)	100.5 g Tri-sodium citrate-dihydrate per 1 liter Ampuwa
4xSSC:	200 ml 20xSSC
(pH 7.0)	800 ml Ampuwa
	and 100 ml Tween 20 for 4xSSC+0.1%Tween
0.05% Citraconic acid	50 µl Citraconic acid anhydride
anhydride buffer: (pH 7.4)	per 100 ml Ampuwa

4% Bovine serum-albumin blocking solution:	4.0 g Albumin, bovine, Fraction V per 100 ml 4xSSC
5% Milk blocking solution:	5.0 g Dry milk powder per 100 ml 4xSSC
4%PBS-buffered formalin: (pH 7.4)	4.0 g Paraformaldehyde per 100 ml 1xPBS
1mM EDTA –solution: (pH7.4)	0.29 g EDTA per 1 liter 1xPBS
EDTA-Buffer:	<ul> <li>100 ml 10xPBS</li> <li>10 ml Fetal bovine serum</li> <li>40 μl 0,5M EDTA</li> <li>add Ampuwa to 1 liter</li> </ul>
FACS-Buffer- BSA:	<ul> <li>500 ml 1xPBS</li> <li>25 ml Fetal bovine serum</li> <li>(filter through a 70 μm cell strainer before use)</li> <li>2.5 g Albumin, Bovine, Fraction V</li> <li>3.5 ml NaN<sub>3</sub></li> </ul>
Picrosirius red:	<ul><li>12 g Picric acid dissolve in 1 liter Ampuwa, mixing strongly</li><li>0.5 g Sirius Red dissolve in 500 ml Picric acid solution, mixing strongly during 1-4 hours Let ripen the solution 1 week at room temperature in the dark</li></ul>
DEPC-water:	<ul><li>2 ml Diethylpyrocarbonat</li><li>2 l Ampuwa</li><li>Mix for at least 6 hours with magnetic stirrer and then autoclave</li></ul>
Protein isolation buffer pro 1 ml:	<ul> <li>40 μl 20mM, pH7.4 HEPES</li> <li>20 μl 2mM EGTA</li> <li>100 μl 1mM DTT</li> <li>50 μl Sodium orthovanadate</li> <li>10 μl Triton X-100</li> <li>100 μl Glycerol</li> <li>0.2 μl 2 μM Leupeptin</li> <li>4 μl 0.4 mM PMSF</li> <li>20 μl 10 μg/ml Aprotinin</li> <li>2 μl 2 μM Microcystin</li> <li>0.8 μl E-64</li> <li>100 μl 50 μM β-Glycerolphosphate</li> <li>The buffer must be prepared directly before usage</li> </ul>

8%-SDS-polyacrylamide separating gel pro 20 ml:	<ul> <li>9.3 ml Aqua distillate</li> <li>5.3 ml 30% Acrylamide</li> <li>5.0 ml 1.5 M Tris pH 8.0</li> <li>0.2 ml 10% SDS</li> <li>0.2 10% APS</li> <li>0.012 μl TEMED</li> </ul>
5%-SDS-polyacrilamide stacking gel pro 20 ml:	<ul> <li>6.8 ml Aqua distillate</li> <li>1.66 ml 30% Acrylamide</li> <li>1.26 ml 1.0M Tris pH 8.0</li> <li>0.1 ml 10% SDS</li> <li>0.1 10% APS</li> <li>0.01 μl TEMED</li> </ul>
Loading Buffer for Western Blotting stocking solution:	<ul> <li>2.0 ml Glycerol</li> <li>2.0 ml 10% SDS</li> <li>0.25 mg Bromphenol blue</li> <li>2.5 ml Stacking gel puffer</li> <li>9.5 ml Ampuwa</li> <li>Before usage add to 950 ml of the loading buffer</li> <li>50 μl of β-Mercaptoethanol</li> </ul>
Stacking gel puffer: (pH 6.8)	6.06 g Tris 4.0 ml 10% SDS per 100 ml Ampuwa
10x Electrophoresis buffer:	720 g Glycine 151.5 g Tris 50 g SDS 5 1 Aqua distillate Dilute 1:10 before usage with Aqua distillate
Transfer buffer pro 1 l: (pH 8.3)	<ul><li>2.9 g Tris</li><li>14.5 g Glycine</li><li>200 ml Methanol</li><li>Add aqua distillate to 1 liter</li></ul>

#### 5.1.7. Instruments

Analytical balance ALC-110.4; Acculab Sartorius group, Germany Blood Pressure Analysis System BP-2000; Visitech Systems, USA Cell counter; The Denominator Company, USA Cell incubator; Heraeus, Germany Cell strainer, 70 µm; BD Bioscience, USA Cell strainer, 100 µm; BD Bioscience, USA Centrifuge 5415C; Eppendorf, Germany Centrifuge; Heraeus, Germany Confocal microscope unit QLC100; VisiTech, UK Counting chamber Neubauer improved, depth 0.1 mm; Roth, Germany Cover Glass; WVR, Germany FACS Calibur; BD Bioscience, Germany FACS tubes; BD Bioscience, Germany Filter paper; Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany Film processor; Curix 60, Agfa-Gevaert AG, Germany Fluorescent microspheres; Invitrogen, Germany Hellendahl staining troughs; Roth, Germany Homogenizer; B-Braun Melsungen AG, Germany Hot plate; Labotech, Germany Hybridisation oven Herahybrid 6; Heraeus, Germany Ice machine MF22; Scotsman Ice Systems, USA Improved Neubauer chamber; Roth, Germany Inverted microscope; Olympus, Japan Laminar-flow hood; Heraeus, Germany Magnetic stirrer Ikamag RCT; Ika-Labortechnik, Germany Microcentrifuge tubes 0.5; 1.5; 2.0 ml; Greiner bio-one, Germany Micropipettes; Eppendorf, Germany Microscope Nikon E600; Nikon, Japan Microtom; Leica, Germany Microwave oven; Sharp, Germany Migration Assay Cell Culture Inserts for 24-well plates, 8.0 µm; BD Bioscience, USA Millar Mikro-Tip 1.4 Fr Pressure Transducer Catheters; Millar instruments, USA Mini-PROTEAN II Electrophoresis Cell; Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany Needles for injections; BD Drogheda, Ireland Nitrocellulose cell impermeable filters; Millipore, Germany Nitrocellulose transfer membrane 0.2 um pore size: Whatman, Germany Optical adhesive film PCR compatible; Applied Biosystems, USA pH-meter 526; WTW, Germany Pipettes tips; Greiner bio-one, Germany Polysine microscope slides; Menzel-Glaser, Germany Polyvinyl alcohol sponge; Rippey, Germany PP-Test tubes, 15 ml; Greiner bio-one, Germany PP-Test tubes, 50 ml; Greiner bio-one, Germany Precesion balance VIC-212; Acculab Sartorius group, Germany Prolene 7-0; Ethicon, Germany Refrigerator; Liebherr, Germany Rotilabo X-ray cassette; Roth, Germany Serological pipettes for cell cultures; Sarstedt, Germany Shaking platform Polynax 1040; Heidolph, Germany Slide boxes; Roth, Germany Stericup Vacuum driven disposable filtration system; Millipore, Germany Surgical instruments for aortic banding; B-Braun, Germany Syringe; Dispomed, Germany TaqMan Real-Time PCR system AB Step One Plus; Applied Biosystems, USA Thermomixer comfort; Eppendorf, Germany Thermostat; Heraeus, Germany Tissue culture dishes; TRP, Switzerland TC-plates 6-well culture; Greiner bio-one, Germany Trans-Blot SD semi-dry transfer cell; Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany UV/Vis Spectrophotometer DU 730, Beckman Coulter, USA Volume-cycled rodent ventilator; Harvard Apparatus, USA Vortex Mixer; neoLab, Germany Water bath; GFL, Germany 96-Well Optical reaction plate (0.1 ml) MicroAmp; Applied Biosystems, USA 24-Well cell culture plate; Greiner bio-one, Germany

X-ray film; GE Healthcare, USA

## 5.1.8. Computer software

Lab Works; UVP Inc., Canada Lucia G Software, version 4.81; Nikon, Japan

## 5.2. Methods

## 5.2.1. Experimental groups

According to the aim of the study to investigate short-term and long-term effects of ramipril on heart remodeling under increased afterload conditions two types of experiments were performed: transverse aortic constriction for 24h (1-day TAC) and for 5 weeks (5-week TAC). All animals were separated into four groups: two groups received ramipril in their diet (TAC+RAM and SHAM+RAM) and the other two groups (TAC and SHAM) received vehicle. Ramipril (5 mg per body weight per day) or vehicle administration started 3 days before surgery and continued until the end of each set of experiments. To study the potential role of bone marrow-derived progenitor cells in heart regeneration under the effect of ramipril, transplantation of GFP-expressing bone marrow cells into wild type mice was performed. Just as the other animals they were separated into four groups (Table 3).

Groups	Ram	Ramipril		Placebo	
	SHAM	TAC	SHAM	TAC	
WT 5-week experiment	8	25	19	23	
WT 1-day experiment	4	5	9	6	
WT 5 week-experiment with GFP bone					
marrow transplantation	8	10	19	31	
WT 5-week experiment with					
Tie-2-GFP bone marrow transplantation	3	3	4	9	

Table 3 Number of mice in the experimental groups

## 5.2.2. Transverse aortic constriction

For transverse aortic constriction animals were anaesthetized with ketamine (100 mg/kg body weight, i.p.) and xylazine (10 mg/kg, i.p.). After orotracheal intubation using a 20-gauge catheter, the tube was connected to a volume-cycled rodent ventilator (Harvard Apparatus, USA) on supplemental oxygen with a tidal volume of 0.2 ml and a respiratory rate of 110 per min. The chest cavity was entered in the second intercostal space at the left upper sternal border through a small incision and aortic constriction was performed by tying a 7-0 nylon suture ligature against a 27-gauge needle (Prolene; Ethicon, Germany) to yield a narrowing 360 µm in diameter and a

transverse aortic constriction of 65–70%. Sham operation was identical except that the aorta was not ligated. At the end of each set of experiments (after 24 h and after 5 weeks) animals were anaesthetized as it was described above and LV pressure was measured by 1.4 Fr pressure-transducing catheter (Millar instruments, USA). Immediately after measurements hearts were rapidly excised and partly snap frozen, partly fixed in PBS-buffered 4% formalin followed by embedding in paraffin 48 h later. Blood and bone marrow were sampled, as well as the spleen for further preparation.

#### 5.2.3. Bone marrow transplantation

Six-week-old C57Bl/6-Tg (ACTbEGFP)1Osb and six-week-old Tg(Tie-2GFP)287Sato mice (Jackson laboratory) were killed and marrow was obtained from the long bones. Unfractionated GFP-expressing bone marrow cells  $(1-2x10^7)$  were transplanted into ten-week-old, male, lethally irradiated (total dose 9 Gy) wild-type recipient mice (C57/Bl6 and FVB/N respectively), by injection into the tail vein 5 hours after irradiation. Four weeks after bone marrow transplantation, transaortic constriction or sham operation was performed as described above.

#### 5.2.4. Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorter Analysis

Blood and bone marrow from at least 13 respectively 8 animals per group were analyzed. The viable lymphocyte population was analyzed for stem cell antigen 1 (Sca-1) and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR-2). Isotype-identical antibodies served as controls in every experiment. All incubations at +4°C were performed in the dark in a refrigerator.

#### 5.2.4.1. FACS-Immunostaining of peripheral blood cells

In FACS-tubes (BD Bioscience, Germany) with 100  $\mu$ l of EDTA-blood were added 3 ml of Lysing Buffer diluted 1:10 in Ampuwa to destroy erythrocytes. The tubes were vortexed and then left for 10 min at RT, followed by centrifugation at 1000 rpm for 10 min. To prevent unspecific binding of antibodies the pellet was resuspended in 100  $\mu$ l of FACS-Buffer-BSA with 10  $\mu$ l of Fc-Block and incubated at +4°C for 10 min. After incubation 10  $\mu$ l of antibody were added to each tube. Then the tubes were vortexed and placed at +4°C for 30 min. To wash the cells 2 ml of FACS-Buffer-BSA were added to the suspension after which the tubes were centrifuged at 1750 rpm for 10 min. This procedure was repeated twice. After removal of the supernatant, the pellet was resuspended in 0.2 ml of 1xPBS by vortexing. The resulting cell suspension was examined by flow cytometry.

#### 5.2.4.2. FACS-Immunostaining of bone marrow cells

To obtain bone marrow cells mouse femur and tibia were flushed out several times with 5 ml of FACS-Buffer-BSA using syringe with needle. The resulting cell suspension was filtered through a 100  $\mu$ m cell strainer (BD Bioscience, USA) in 15 ml conical tubes (PP-Test tubes; Greiner bioone, Germany), and afterwards centrifuged at 1000 rpm, +4°C for 10 min with brakes switched off. Supernatant was aspirated with care because of the high vulnerability of bone marrow cells. Once 1 ml of Lysing Buffer was added to the pellet, the tubes were placed on ice. After the lapse of 5 minutes cell-washing step was performed. For this purpose 2 ml of FACS-Buffer-BSA were added to the suspension and the cells were spun down at 1000 rpm, +4°C for 10 min. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml of FACS-Buffer-BSA. 50  $\mu$ l of the cell suspension were transferred in FACS-tubes and mixed with 10  $\mu$ l of Fc-Block, after which the tubes were placed at +4°C for 30 min. After incubation the cell-washing step was carried out twice. The pellet was resuspended in 0.5 ml of 1xPBS whereupon the resulting cell suspension was examined by flow cytometry (FACS Calibur; BD Bioscience, Germany).

#### 5.2.5. Migration assay of spleen-derived EPC's

In mice, the spleen functions as a hematopoietic organ, therefore EPC's could be isolated from there for determination of their migration capacity by a modified Boyden chamber (Migration Assay Cell Culture Inserts for 24-well plates, 8.0 µm; BD Bioscience, USA).

The spleen cells from at least 6 animals per group were resuspended in the EDTA-buffer filtered in 50ml conical tubes (PP-Test tubes; Greiner bio-one, Germany) through 70  $\mu$ m cell strainer (BD Bioscience, USA), whereupon they were layered slowly on 15 ml ficoll (Biochrom, Germany) in 50ml conical tubes. To isolate spleen mononuclear cells single-step gradient method was used (121). To do this the tubes were centrifuged at 2400 rpm, at +25°C for 20 min, with brakes switched off, then the cell suspension from the interface was collected with a serological pipette, transferred in 50 ml conical tubes, diluted with 1xPBS to 40 ml and spun down at 2400 rpm for 10 min. The obtained pellet was resuspended in 5 ml of EBM and transferred into 6-well culture plates (Greiner bio-one, Germany) which were placed in a gas-controlled cell incubator (Heraeus, Germany) with water vapor saturated air containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at +37°C.

After 4 days in culture, the cells were trypsinized (500  $\mu$ l of EBM with trypsin and 500  $\mu$ l of 1mM EDTA per well) for 5 min in the cell incubator, whereupon they were transferred into 2.0 ml microcentrifuge tubes (Greiner bio-one, Germany) filled with 1.0 ml EBM to inactivate

trypsin and then spun down at 2000 rpm for 10 min. Modified Boyden chambers were placed in the wells of 24-well culture plates (Greiner bio-one, Germany) filled with 750  $\mu$ l EBM, contained 10  $\mu$ l SDF-1. After the centrifugation the pellet of the spleen-derived cells was resuspended in 500  $\mu$ l EBM. Once the cells were counted, using improved Neubauer chamber (Roth, Germany), 500 cells from each probe were resuspended in 1 ml EBM and transferred into the upper part of a modified Boyden chamber. The 24-well culture plates with the modified Boyden chambers were placed in gas-controlled cell incubator. After 24 hours the undersides of the modified Boyden chambers (filters) were washed two times for 5 min each with 1xPBS, whereupon they were put in the wells containing 300  $\mu$ l EBM with 5  $\mu$ l DiLDL and incubated for 2 h in the cell incubator, after which the washing step was repeated. The filters were cut out with a scalpel, placed on slides, embedded in Vectashield and covered with glass coverslips. The whole filter was analyzed by fluorescence microscopy, using a filter for TRITC. All red fluorescent cells were held for positive and counted manually.

## 5.2.6. Disc angiogenesis model

A disc of polyvinyl alcohol sponge (Rippey, Germany 8 mm), covered with nitrocellulose cellimpermeable filters (Millipore, Germany), was used allowing capillaries to grow only through the rim of the disc. The discs were implanted subcutaneously at the time of TAC or SHAM surgery. After 5 weeks, space-filling fluorescent microspheres (0.2  $\mu$ m; Invitrogen, Germany) were injected into the left ventricle to deliver them to the systemic microvasculature. The area of the disc invested by fibrovascular growth was assessed with Lucia Measurement version 4.6 software.

#### 5.2.7. Blood pressure measurement

Blood pressure measurement was performed in all animals on the tail artery with the help of a blood pressure analysis system BP-2000 (Visitech Systems, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions during the 5 last days of each set of experiment, using at least 20 repeating measurements per day. The mean of the measurements carried out within 3 last days was taken for further analysis.

## 5.2.8. Histology

## 5.2.8.1. Preparation of paraffin sections and deparaffinization

Because of superior preservation of morphology formalin-fixed paraffin-embedded tissue was used. For histological analysis and immunostaining  $3\mu$ m paraffin sections were cut with a microtome (Leica, Germany) and mounted on poly-L-lysine-coated glass slides (Menzel-Glaser, Germany) after which they were dried at +55°C in a thermostat (Heraeus, Germany) for 2 days. To deparaffinize the specimens the slides were placed onto a hot plate (Labotech, Germany) at +70°C for 30 min and then washed for 3 x 10 min in xylene bathes. Thereafter the sections were successively rehydrated in graded ethanol series (100%; 85%; 70%) and Ampuwa for 5 minutes in each solution.

## 5.2.8.2. Hematoxylin-eosin staining

The measurement of cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter was performed using sections stained with Ehrlich's hematoxylin and eosin. For H&E –staining the specimens were treated as follows: first the slides were immersed in hematoxylin-solution for 20 min, washed in Ampuwa for 5 minutes, then they were stained in eosin-solution for 5 min and washed in Ampuwa for 5 min. On staining, the sections were dehydrated in graded ethanol series (70%; 85%; 100%) for 5 min in each solution, cleared in xylene for 2x3 min, embedded in enthellan and covered with cover glasses (WVR, Germany).

#### 5.2.8.3. Picrosirius red staining

The degree of fibrosis was determined by the use of picrosirius red staining. Slides were immersed in picrosirius red-solution for 1 hour at RT, washed in Ampuwa for 5 min. Thereafter the sections were dehydrated, treated with xylene and embedded in enthellan as it was described above. Collagen fibers were stained red, other tissue structures had yellow color. Cardiac fibrosis was quantitated morphometrically as fractional area of collagen content in percentage of myocardial content.

## 5.2.9. Immunostaining

## 5.2.9.1. Basic principle

Immunostaining was carried out to identify distinct types of myocardium cells. For this purpose different primary antibodies reacting with specific antigens of investigated cells (cardiomyocytes, smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, progenitor cells and proliferating cells) were used. They were in turn detected by secondary antibodies with specificity for antigens of animals in which primary antibodies had been produced. The secondary antibodies were labeled with different markers (fluorochromes, biotin, horse radish peroxidase) according to the immunostaining methods used in our study.

## 5.2.9.2. Antigen retrieval

To reveal epitopes unmasking was performed using citraconic anhydride buffer. Slides were placed in plastic Hellendahl staining troughs (Roth, Germany) with 0.05% citraconic anhydride solution, pH 7.4 which were put in water bath at +98°C for 1 hour, whereupon they were cooled at room temperature for 30 minutes (98).

#### 5.2.9.3. Staining methods

Because of the distinct immunoreactivity of target antigens different immunochemical staining methods (two-step indirect method for antigens with strong immunoreactivity, streptavidinbiotin method and tyramide-amplification method for antigens with weak immunoreactivity) were employed (60). In all cases sections with primary antibody were incubated in a moist chamber in a refrigerator at +4°C overnight (no less than 12 hours) followed by incubation at +37°C for 2 hours. All incubations with antibodies and reagents at +37°C were performed in a moist chamber in a water bath. Between incubation steps and after the last incubation slides were washed in 1xPBS or 4xSSC with 0.1% Tween 3 times 5 min each. 4xSSC diminishes background staining and non-specific binding of antibodies in problematical cases of immunostaining better then other wash-buffers; in contrast to this 1xPBS allows to obtain good fluorescent signal if antigen immunoreactivity is weak.

## 5.2.9.4. Two-step indirect method

Two-step indirect method was used to detect alpha sarcomeric actin, alpha smooth muscle actin and GFP. Before application of primary antibody all sections were incubated with 4% BSA in 4xSSC for 10 minutes at +37°C to prevent unspecific binding of antibodies. Thereafter primary antibody was diluted (Table 1) with 4% BSA in 4xSSC and applied as described above. The next day sections were incubated with fluorochrom-labeled secondary antibody diluted 1:30 with 4xSSC at  $+37^{\circ}C$  for 1 hour.

## 5.2.9.5. Streptavidin-biotin method

Immunostaining for Ki-67 was carried out by streptavidin-biotin method. The primary antibody was diluted with 1xPBS+0.1% Tween (Table 1). Blocking solution was not used because of the week immunoreactivity of this antigen. Incubation with primary antibody was performed as described above. The next day sections were incubated first with biotin-labeled secondary antibody diluted 1:30 with 1xPBS +0.1% Tween at +37°C for 2 hours and then with TRITC-labeled streptavidin diluted 1:50 for 30 minutes at +37°C.

#### 5.2.9.6. Tyramide-amplification method

Antigens with the weakest immunoreactivity (PECAM-1=CD31, MEF-2, podocalyxin) were detected with the tyramide amplification-method. Primary antibody was diluted with 4xSSC +0.1% Tween and applied as described above. The next day sections were incubated first with blocking solution containing 5% milk with 4xSSC than with peroxidase-labeled secondary antibody diluted with the same solution (1:500 for CD31, podocalyxin and 1:30 for MEF-2) at RT for 30 min, after which slides were washed with 4xSSC +0.1% Tween and incubated in tyramide solution diluted 1:30 with amplification diluent for 10 min at RT. After washing with 4xSSC+0.1% Tween-solution incubation with TRITC-labeled streptavidin was performed as in the streptavidin-biotin method. To stain nuclei the sections were incubated with DAPI for 20 min in a moist chamber at RT, whereupon the slides were immersed in Ampuwa for 5 min. The sections were embedded in Vectashield and covered with cover glasses (WVR, Germany).

#### 5.2.9.7. Control of immunostaining

To exclude false positive and false negative results control of immunostaining was carried out. Control tissue specimens were fixed, processed and embedded in the same manner as the samples from experimental animals. As positive control for proliferation marker Ki-67 sarcoma sections were used. Immunostainings for some antigens were controlled using internal tissue control, which means that examined sections contain both investigated cells and control cells: for alpha-smooth muscle actin smooth muscle cells of coronary arteries, for podocalyxin and CD31 endothelial cells of coronary arteries and for MEF-2 cardiomyocytes. As negative control tissues were used: tubular epithelial cells of nephrones in kidney sections for alpha-sarcomeric actin, MEF-2 and alpha smooth muscle actin; LV of wild type mice without GFP-transplanted cells for GFP. To exclude cross reaction of the secondary antibody with the tissue antigens, normal (nonimmune) serum from the same species was used as the primary antibody at a protein concentration equivalent to the diluted primary antibody.

#### 5.2.10. Apoptosis detection

Apoptosis detection in heart sections was performed using the ApopTag Peroxidase In Situ Oligo Ligation Kit (Millipore-Chemicon, USA), which unlike terminal transferase-based labeling assay (TUNEL), detects only blunt-ended or having a one base 3' overhang double-stranded breaks of DNA typical for apoptotic but not for necrotic or transiently damaged cells.

The procedure was carried out according to manufacturer's instructions (32). To determine the types of apoptotic cells the heart sections after apoptosis detection were counterstained for alpha-sarcomeric actin, CD31 and GFP. Histological examination of apoptosis indicated by brown 3-3 diaminobenzidine staining was performed by light field microscopy unit of a Nikon E 600 microscope and the type of each apoptotic cell was determined by subsequent switching to the fluorescent unit.

#### 5.2.11. Sections examination and tissue morphometry

Histological evaluation and morphometric analyses were performed on left ventricular tissue sections with the help of a Nikon E600 microscope (Nikon, Japan) and Lucia G Software (version 4.81, Nikon, Japan). The ocular with the sampling grid was used to count numbers of CD31-positive cells, cardiomyocytes, non-cardiomyocytes, capillary profiles and cardiomyocyte profiles.

For determination of mean cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter, the short-axis diameter of at least 100 randomly chosen cross-sectioned cardiomyocytes was measured on photographs of H&E -sections obtained at 400x magnification. In each group at least 7 hearts were examined (1 section per heart).

To evaluate the degree of fibrosis ten fields in the middle third of each LV-section stained with Sirius Red were photographed at 100x magnification whereupon total interstitial fibrillar collagen content was quantified as fractional area of collagen content in percentage of myocardial tissue. In each group at least 7 hearts were examined (1 section per heart).

Sections double stained for CD31 and  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin were used to determinate numbers of endothelial (CD31-positive) cells, cardiomyocytes (cross-sectioned muscle fibers

having nuclei) and non-cardiomyocytes per  $mm^2$ . For this purpose the sampling grid was randomly superimposed 20 times at 1000x magnification and both nuclei positive for endothelial or cardiomyocyte markers and non-stained nuclei lying completely within its boundaries were counted. The cell density was calculated using the formula: cell density  $(mm^2)$ =cell number in 20 fields/((0.00153664)\*20), where 0.00153664 is the area of the sampling grid at 1000x magnification, 20 is the number of counted fields. Ratio of CD31-positive cells to cardiomyocytes was calculated from the obtained values.

In the same manner were estimated the densities of cross-sectioned capillary and cardiomyocyte profiles (all cross-sectioned muscle fibers with and without nuclei) at 400x magnification in tissue sections double stained for podocalyxin and  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin. The profile density was calculated using the formula: cell density (mm<sup>2</sup>)=cell number in 20 fields/((0.009604)\*20), where 0.009604 is the area of the sampling grid at 400x magnification, 20 is the number of counted fields.

For determination of the mean cross-sectional area of capillary, the cross-sectional area of at least 100 randomly chosen cross-sectioned capillaries was measured on photographs of LV -sections double stained for podocalyxin and  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin obtained at 400x magnification. In each group at least 7 hearts were examined (1 section per heart).

To evaluate the number of Ki-67-positive cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes, the number of GFP-positive cells, GFP-positive cells with MEF-2-positive nuclei, cells double positive for GFP and CD31, the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells and number of different types of apoptotic cells their respective total number was counted in sections stained for appropriate markers. Thereafter using received values and the section area measured on photographs of H&E -sections obtained at 20x magnification cell density and percentage were calculated. In each group all hearts were examined (1 section per heart). Colocalization of staining (Ki67 and  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin) was controlled using a confocal microscopy unit (QLC100, VisiTech; United Kingdom on a Nikon E600 microscope).

#### 5.2.12. Analysis of HIF-1α-expression

#### 5.2.12.1. RNA isolation

All manipulations with nucleic acids were performed on ice to prevent their degradation. Total RNA was isolated from the LV according to the manufactures instructions and the protocol of Chomczynski, Sacchi (27) using peqGOLD RNA Pure (Peqlab Biotechnology, Germany). Thereafter DNA digestion was performed by application of DNAse I (Roche, Germany). For this purpose 10 µl of RNA probe were mixed with 6 µl of DEPC-water (DEPC Sigma-Aldrich,
Germany), 2  $\mu$ l of 10x PCR buffer (Roche, Germany) and incubated for 30 min at +25°C and than at +75°C in Thermomixer comfort (Eppendorf, Germany). The RNA content was measured by UV-spectrophotometry (UV/Vis Spectrophotometer DU 730, Beckman Coulter, USA) at 260 and 280 nm. To do this 1 $\mu$ l of template was mixed with 49  $\mu$ l of DEPC-water, as negative control 50  $\mu$ l of DEPC-water were used. Employed for the RNA purity estimation the ratio 260/280 was in all samples at 1.6-1.8. The probes were stored at -80° C.

#### 5.2.12.2. Reverse transcription

Two micrograms of isolated RNA were reverse transcripted with the help of Omniscript RT Kit (Qiagen, Germany). To do this the probes were thawed on ice, vortexed and centrifuged at top speed. Thereafter up to 2  $\mu$ g RNA were transferred in microcentrifuge tubes, filled up to 10  $\mu$ l with DEPC-water and mixed with 2  $\mu$ l 10x Buffer RT, 2  $\mu$ l dNTP Mix, 2  $\mu$ l random primer (Roche, Germany), 1  $\mu$ l RNasin (Promega, USA), 1  $\mu$ l omniscript RT, 2  $\mu$ l DEPC-water, whereupon they were incubated for 1 hour at +37°C in water bath, than for 5 min at +93°C in Thermomixer comfort followed by incubation on ice for 5 min. The probes were stored at -80° C.

# 5.2.12.3. Quantitative RT-PCR

Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with the TaqMan Real-Time PCR system (AB Step One Plus, Applied Biosystems, USA). The TaqMan Gene expression assays containing probes and primers for mouse genes hypoxia-inducible factor-1 $\alpha$  (Hif-1 $\alpha$ ) and 18S ribosomal RNA were assay-on-demand purchased from Applied Biosystems. They had a FAM<sup>TM</sup> reporter dye at the 5'end of the TaqMan MGB probe and a nonfluorescent quencher at the 3' end of the probe. To prepare reaction mixture, all reagents and samples were defrosted on ice and mixtured in microcentrifuge tubes in the following proportion: 2 µl cDNA, 1.25 µl gene expression assay, 12.5 µl TaqMan gene expression master mix (Applied Biosystems, USA), 9.25 µl sterile water, whereupon the tubes were vortexed and reaction mixture was transferred in the wells of a optical reaction plate (Applied Biosystems, USA). The plate was placed in the AB Step One Plus and quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction was performed according to the 2-step-manufacture protocol: 5 min at +95°C and 40 cycles (15s at +95°C for template denaturation and 1 min at +60°C for annealing of assay components and signal generation). For quantification, mRNA amount of the respective gene was normalized to the amount of 18S rRNA using the 2<sup>-</sup>  $\Delta\Delta C^{T}$  method (23).

# 5.2.13. Analysis of HIF-1a-protein content by Western blotting

# 5.2.13.1. Protein isolation and measurement of protein concentration

All manipulations with proteins were performed on ice to prevent their degradation. For preparation of proteins, tissue of LV was homogenized, dissolved in lysis buffer, centrifuged for 3 min, 10000 rpm, 4 °C and stored at -80 °C. Protein concentration was measured by Lowry protein assay using detergent compatible kit (DC protein assay, Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany). For this purpose, 2 µl probe was mixed with 38 µl aqua distillate, 100 µl Reagent A, 800 µl Reagent B, vortexed and then incubated at room temperature for 15 min, whereupon the protein concentration was measured spectrophotometrically at 540 nm (UV/Vis Spectrophotometer DU 730, Beckman Coulter, USA). For negative control the same mixture was used in which 2 µl of probe were replaced with 2 µl of aqua distillate. The isolated proteins were stored at -80°C.

# 5.2.13.2. Gel electrophoresis and electrophoretic transfer of proteins

To carry out vertical electrophoresis in 8%-SDS-polyacrylamide gel, a Mini-PROTEAN II Electrophoresis Cell (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany) was utilized. The gel preparation was performed according to the manufactures instructions based on the method of Laemmli (73). Samples for loading were prepared by mixing an amount of probes containing 300 µg of total protein with half of this amount of loading buffer for western blotting. The samples were incubated for 1 hour at RT, whereupon they were loaded in slots of 8%-SDS-polyacrylamide gel. Protein separation was performed at constant current of 90 V for 3 hours per gel. As protein molecular weight marker Full Range Rainbow recombinant protein molecular weight marker (GE Healthcare, USA) was used. After electrophoresis gel, filter paper (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany) and nitrocellulose transfer membrane (0.2 µm pore size, Whatman, Germany) were soaked in transfer puffer. For electrophoretic transfer of proteins from the gel onto a membrane a Trans-Blot SD semi-dry transfer cell (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Germany) was used and the procedure was assembled in accordance with the attached instruction manual. The transfer ran for 1 hour at 200 mA. Relative protein loading and protein transfer efficiency were evaluated with the help of the Ponçeau S solution for electrophoresis (Serva, Germany), stained for 1 min and then washed with aqua distillate. Thereafter the membrane was scanned and then washed with 1xPBS+0.1%Tween to eliminate the dye.

## 5.2.13.3. Immunovisualization

All washing steps and incubations with blocking solutions to reduce nonspecific antibody binding and to diminish background were executed on a shaking platform. First the membrane was immersed for 1 hour in 1% Western Blocking Reagent (Roche, Germany) diluted with 1xPBS+0.1% Tween then it was incubated with the primary antibody mouse monoclonal anti-Hiflα (Novus Biologicals, Littleton, CO, USA) and rabbit monoclonal anti-β-tubulin (abcam, UK), diluted in the same blocking solution on shaking platform for 12 hours at +4°C followed by incubation with the same primary antibody dissolved in 1xPBS+0.1% Tween for 3 hours in a hybridization oven at +37°C. After incubation the membrane was washed with 4xSSC+0.1% Tween 3 times ten minutes each and then the procedure was repeated with 4xSSC. After washing the membrane was incubated with blocking solution 5% milk+4xSSC for 1 hour at RT. Incubation with horse radish peroxidase-labeled goat anti-rabbit or goat anti-mouse secondary antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) diluted 1:4000 with the same blocking solution was carried out in a hybridization oven at +37°C for 30 min. The washing step was done as described above. For the chemiluminescent detection an enhanced chemiluminescence kit (GE Healthcare, USA) was utilized and the procedure was performed in accordance with the attached instruction manual. Rotilabo X-ray cassette (Roth, Germany) was used to expose the membrane to X-ray film (GE Healthcare, USA), which was developed using film processor (Curix 60, Agfa-Gevaert AG, Germany).

# 5.2.13.4. Densitometry

The protein bands on developed films were evaluated with the help of the program Lab Works (UVP Inc., Canada). The amount of the HIF-1 $\alpha$  was presented in optical density units as percentage of the amount of the control protein  $\beta$ -tubulin.

#### 5.2.14. Statistical Analysis

Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean. Statistical analysis was performed with the help of the program Statistica 6.0. One-way ANOVA with Fisher LSD post hoc test or Kruskal-Wallis test with Mann-Whitney post hoc test were used where applicable. Correlations between investigated parameters were evaluated by Spearman R-test with obligatory control of scatterplot matrix. Values of p<0.05 were considered significant.

# 6. Results

#### 6.1. Hemodynamic data and myocardial hypertrophy

As expected, short- and long-term transverse aortic constriction significantly increased left ventricular systolic pressure (Fig. 1, 2). At the same time, treatment with ramipril did not change this parameter in all experimental groups (Fig. 1, 2). Animals after 5 weeks of aortic ligation exhibited a significant increase in the ratio of heart weight to tibia length, which, however, was substantially reduced by ramipril only in non-transplanted mice (Fig. 3).



Fig. 1: LV systolic pressure in 5-week experiment. TAC significantly increased left ventricular systolic pressure. Ramipril did not influence this parameter in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC= transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 2: LV systolic pressure in one-day experiment. TAC significantly increased left ventricular systolic pressure. Ramipril did not influence this parameter in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC= transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 3: Heart weight / tibia length in 5-week experiment. TAC significantly increased the ratio, which was reduced by ramipril only in non-transplanted mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

All groups of one-day-operated animals did not differ from each other concerning this ratio: 1d SHAM 5.6 $\pm$ 0.8; 1d TAC 7.7 $\pm$ 1.1; 1d SHAM+RAM 7.1 $\pm$ 0.6; 1d TAC+RAM 8.4 $\pm$ 1.1, mg/mm. Aortic ligation, but not ramipril treatment for 5 weeks decreased significantly both systolic and diastolic blood pressure of the tail artery. In mice undergoing BMT and TAC similar effects were not observed. In contrast, significant decrease of systolic blood pressure under the influence of ramipril was seen in bone marrow-transplanted but not in untransplanted TAC mice (Fig. 4, 5).



Fig. 4: Peripheral systolic blood pressure in 5-week experiment. TAC significantly decreased the systolic blood pressure only in non-transplanted animals. Ramipril reduced it in bone marrow-transplanted TAC mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 5: Peripheral diastolic blood pressure in 5-week experiment. TAC significantly decreased the diastolic blood pressure only in non-transplanted animals. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

#### 6.2. Heart tissue remodeling

#### 6.2.1. Cardiomyocyte hypertrophy

To assess cardiomyocyte hypertrophy the number of cross-sectioned cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> and cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter were evaluated (Fig. 7). Five-week TAC diminished the number of cross-sectioned cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> and increased cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter compared to sham-operated animals (Fig. 6, 8). Ramipril in 5-week TAC mice significantly reduced cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter and augmented the number of cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> (Fig. 6, 8).



Fig. 6: Cardiomyocyte number per mm<sup>2</sup> in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC diminished the number of cross-sectioned cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup>. Ramipril augmented the number of cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> in TAC mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



SHAM

TAC



#### SHAM +RAMIPRIL

TAC+RAMIPRIL

Fig. 7: Cardiomyocytes. Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Cardiomyocytes in green for  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar = 30 $\mu$ m. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction.



Fig. 8: Cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC increased cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter. Ramipril reduced it in TAC mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

One-day TAC did not influence both parameters (Table 3).

in one-day-operated mice				
Parameters	1d SHAM	1d TAC	1d SHAM	1d TAC
			+RAM	+RAM
Number of cardiomyocytes per mm <sup>2</sup>	996±68	1074±75	643±60	638±25
Cardiomyocyte	10.0±0.6	10.2±0.2	9.7±0.1	9.9±0.2
short-axis diameter, μm				

 Table 3 Cardiomyocyte number per mm<sup>2</sup> and cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter

 in one-day-operated mice

# 6.2.2. Cardiac fibrosis

Five-week TAC induced perivascular as well as interstitial cardiac fibrosis quantitated morphometrically as fractional area of collagen content as percentage of the myocardial content (Fig. 9, 10). Pressure overload for 5 weeks increased collagen content in the mice without BMT (Fig. 11). In bone marrow-transplanted mice marked cardiac fibrosis was found even in sham-operated animals and 5-week TAC led to its further increasing (Fig. 12).









Fig. 9: Sirius-Red staining for collagen (red colour). Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Perivascular fibrosis in a TAC-mouse. Bar = 30µm. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction.



Fig. 10: Sirius-Red staining for collagen (red colour). Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Interstitial fibrosis in a TAC-mouse. Bar = 30µm. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction.



Fig. 11: Collagen content in myocardium of 5-week-operated mice. Pressure overload for 5 weeks increased collagen content in the mice without bone marrow transplantation. In bone marrow-transplanted mice marked cardiac fibrosis was found even in sham-operated animals and 5-week TAC further increased it. Ramipril significantly reduced collagen content in pressure-overloaded myocardium. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



**BM-SHAM** 



**BM-TAC** 

Fig. 12: Sirius-Red staining for collagen (red colour). Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Interstitial fibrosis in a BM-SHAM- and BM-TAC-mouse. Bar = 30µm. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice.

In bone marrow-transplanted mice cardiac fibrosis was more pronounced than in other experimental animal. This may be due to the influence of irradiation (Fig. 11, 12). GFP-positive cells lacking both endothelial and myocardial markers massively infiltrated fibrotic areas in bone marrow-transplanted mice (Fig. 13). Ramipril significant reduced collagen content in 5-week TAC mice (Fig. 11, 14).

#### Results



Fig. 13: GFP-positive cells lacking both endothelial and myocardial markers massively infiltrated fibrotic areas in bone marrow-transplanted mice. Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. GFP in green, cardiomyocytes in red for  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar = 30 $\mu$ m.



SHAM+RAMIPRIL



#### TAC+RAMIPRIL

Fig. 14: Sirius-Red staining for collagen (red colour). Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Reduced perivascular and interstitial fibrosis in a TAC+RAM mouse. Bar = 30µm. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

#### 6.2.3. Cell turnover in the left ventricular myocardium

#### 6.2.3.1. Cycling cardiac cells

The nuclear protein Ki67 (Fig. 15-17), which is expressed during all stages of the cell cycle excluding  $G_0^{3}$ , was used to measure the number of cardiac cells undergoing cell division. Pressure overload for 5 weeks significantly increased the number of Ki67-positive non-cardiomyocytes and induced synthesis of Ki67 protein in some cardiomyocytes (Fig. 18-21). Some Ki67-positive cardiomyocytes were binucleated (Fig. 17). In the bone marrow-transplanted mice Ki67-expressing cardiomyocytes were found even in sham-operated animals, although the cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter in this group was significantly lower than in

sham mice without BMT (Fig. 20, 21). Treatment with ramipril during 5-week experiment diminished significantly numbers of Ki67–positive cells in all groups (Fig. 18-21).



Fig. 15: Ki67-positive cardiomyocytes in TAC mice. Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Ki67 in green, cardiomyocytes in red for  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar =  $30\mu$ m.



Fig. 16: Ki67-positive non-cardiomyoycytes. Paraffin section of a 5-week experiment mouse heart. Two Ki67-positive non-cardiomyoycytes in a TAC mouse. Ki67 in green, cardiomyocytes in red for  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar = 30 $\mu$ m.



Fig. 17: Binuclear Ki67-positive cardiomyocytes in TAC mice. Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Ki67 in red, cardiomyocytes in green for α-sarcomeric actin, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar = 30µm



Fig. 18: Number of Ki67-expressing non-cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC increased the number of Ki67-positive non-cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup>. Ramipril diminished the number of Ki67-positive non-cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.







Fig. 20: Number of Ki67-expressing cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC increased the number of Ki67-positive cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup>. Ramipril diminished the number of Ki67-positive cardiomyocytes per mm<sup>2</sup> in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 21: Percentage of Ki67-expressing cardiomyocytes in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC increased the percentage of Ki67-positive cardiomyocytes. Ramipril diminished the parameter in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

In contrast to the foregoing results, neither TAC nor ramipril influenced significantly the numbers of Ki67 –positive cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes in one-day-operated mice (Table 4).

Parameters	1dSHAM	1dTAC	1dSHAM +RAM	1dTAC +RAM
	Ki-67-expressing		non-cardiomyocytes	
Number per mm <sup>2</sup>	1.75±1.03	1.46±0.7	1.59±1.7	0.19±0.09
%	0.06±0.03	5.89±3.01	0.057±0.05	0.046±0.02
	Ki-67-exp	oressing	cardiomyocytes	•
Number per mm <sup>2</sup>	0.23±0.15	0.37±0.2	0	0
%	0.06±0.03	0.036±0.02	0	0

Table 4 Ki67-positive cells in myocardium of one-day-operated mice

# 6.2.3.2. Apoptosis

Transaortic constriction for 5 weeks in mice without BMT significantly enhanced apoptosis rates of cardiomyocytes, non-cardiomyocytes and CD31 <sup>pos</sup> cells in the heart. In mice that underwent TAC, ramipril substantially decreased the percentage of apoptotic cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells (Fig. 22-26).



Fig. 22: Percentage of apoptotic cardiomyocytes in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC increased the percentage of apoptotic cardiomyocytes. Ramipril diminished the parameter in TAC mice without BMT and in all groups of bone marrow-transplanted animals. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 23: Percentage of apoptotic non-cardiomyocytes in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC increased the percentage of apoptotic non-cardiomyocytes. Ramipril did not influence the parameter in non-transplanted animals, but significantly reduced it in all groups of bone marrow-transplanted mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice. p<0.05 p<0.05



Fig. 24: Percentage of apoptotic CD31<sup>pos</sup>cells in 5-week experiment mice. Five-week TAC increased the percentage of apoptotic CD31<sup>pos</sup>cells. Ramipril significantly diminished the parameter in TAC mice with and without bone marrow transplantation. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 25: Apoptotic cells. Paraffin section of a 5-week experiment mouse heart with transverse aortic constriction: (A) shows light microscopic staining for apoptosis (brown), (B) shows fluorescence microscopy for the myocyte marker  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin (green). Nuclei are stained blue by DAPI. Apoptotic myocytes are marked by arrows, an apoptotic non-myocyte by arrowhead. Bar = 30µm.



Α



Fig. 26: Apoptotic CD31-positive cell. Paraffin section of a 5-week experiment mouse heart with transverse aortic constriction: (A) shows light microscopic staining for apoptosis (brown), (B) shows fluorescence microscopy for the endothelial cell marker CD31 (red). Cardiomyocytes in green for  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin, nuclei in blue by DAPI. The apoptotic CD31-positive cell is marked by arrow. Bar = 30µm.

Bone marrow transplantation led to increased rates of apoptosis compared to non-transplanted mice, which were further enhanced by TAC. In contrast to mice without BMT, in bone marrow-transplanted animals ramipril significantly decreased the number of apoptotic cells-cardiomyocytes, non-cardiomyocytes and CD31 <sup>pos</sup> cells- in all groups (Fig. 22-26). There were no differences in the percentage of GFP <sup>pos</sup> cells undergoing apoptosis between the experimental groups: BM-SHAM 32±11.2; BM-TAC 29.1±7.2; BM-SHAM+RAM 33.2±7.8; BM-TAC+RAM 40.9±4.9 %.

Correlation analysis revealed close positive interrelationships between parameters characterizing remodeling of heart tissue and cell turnover parameters in 5-week experiment (Fig. 27).



Fig. 27: Correlations between parameters characterizing remodeling of myocardium and cell turnover. Myocardial remodeling in non-transplanted mice (cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and fibrosis) was positive associated with cell turnover (proliferation and apoptosis in cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes) in myocardium.

# 6.3. Neoangiogenesis

# 6.3.1. Extracardiac neoangiogenesis

Transaortic constriction, initiated after implantation of subcutaneous polyvinyl discs (Fig. 28) ( $n\geq 5$  per group), increased the area of neoangiogenesis as expected by  $155\pm10\%$  compared with sham-operated mice (p<0.05), while ramipril even extended this effect in both groups (p<0.05, Fig. 29).



Fig. 28: Newly sprouted vessels in subcutaneously implanted polyvinyl disks after 35 days. Bar = 1mm.



Fig. 29: Neoangiogenesis in implanted subcutaneous polyvinyl discs. TAC stimulated extracardiac capillary growth, but neoangiogenic effect of ramipril was stronger in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

# 6.3.2. Endothelial progenitor cells

A large body of research shows that bone marrow-derived EPC's play a very important role in tissue remodeling and angiogenesis. Thus, the influence of transaortic constriction and treatment with ramipril on EPC mobilization and their migration capacity was investigated.

# 6.3.2.1. FACS analysis data

The mean EPC number in the blood and in the bone marrow in all experimental groups (Fig. 30, 31) was calculated as percentage of the one in the relevant sham groups.

One-day TAC substantially raised EPC level in the peripheral blood, but not in the bone marrow (Fig. 30). Ramipril treatment for 3 days prior to surgery significantly increased EPC numbers in both groups compared to baseline levels of sham mice (Fig. 30). Hence, contrary to aortic ligation ACE inhibition significantly augmented the number of EPC's not only in the peripheral blood, but also in the bone marrow.



Fig. 30: EPC levels in blood and bone marrow in one-day experiment. One-day TAC substantially raised EPC level only in the peripheral blood. In contrary, ACE inhibition significantly augmented the number of EPC's not only in the peripheral blood, but also in the bone marrow in all groups. SHAM=shamoperated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

Unlike one-day TAC, aortic ligation for 5 weeks led to upregulation of EPC number both in the blood and in the bone marrow (Fig. 31). The effect of ramipril was also distinct from the one in one-day experiment: EPC levels in both treated groups did not differ from baseline levels of sham mice in the peripheral blood and in the bone marrow (Fig. 31). Thus, in 5-week experiment TAC was the only group with significantly increased EPC levels in the peripheral blood and in the baseline levels of sham animals.



Fig. 31: EPC levels in blood and bone marrow in 5-week experiment. TAC for 5 weeks upregulated the EPC number both in the blood and in the bone marrow. In ramipril-treated groups EPC levels did not differ from baseline levels of sham mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

# 6.3.2.2. Migration assay data

Neither one-day nor 5-week TAC had any significant effect on the number of  $DiLDL^{pos}$  endothelial cells migrating through the mesh of a modified Boyden chamber (0.3 cm<sup>2</sup>) compared to sham surgery. Ramipril treatment enhanced the number of migrating cells in all groups (Fig. 32).



Fig. 32: Migration capacity of EPC. Ramipril increased the number of migrating cells in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

#### 6.3.3. Capillarisation of the left ventricle

To identify endothelial cells in myocardium, immunostaining for platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1, CD31) commonly used as an endothelial marker was performed (Fig. 35). Five-week TAC diminished significantly the number of CD31-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, but did not change the ratio of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells to cardiomyocytes (cross-sectioned muscle fibers having nuclei) - detected by staining for  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin. By contrast, one-day TAC did not affect both parameters (Fig. 33, 34). Ramipril elevated significantly the number of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> and the ratio of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells to cardiomyocytes in 5-week experiment (Fig. 33, 34).



Fig. 33: Number of CD31-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup>. The number of CD31-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> was diminished by TAC, but increased by ramipril treatment in all groups in 5-week experiment. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 34: Ratio of CD31-positive cells per cardiomyocytes. The ratio of CD 31<sup>pos</sup> cells to cardiomyocytes was not changed by 5-week TAC, but increased by ramipril treatment in all groups in 5-week experiment and in treated aortic-ligated mice in one-day experiment. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



SHAM



TAC



SHAM +RAMIPRIL



**TAC+RAMIPRIL** 



In one-day experiment both parameters were substantially enhanced only in aortic-ligated animals treated with ramipril (Fig. 33, 34). Capillary density in myocardium was evaluated by immunostaining for podocalyxin - the sialoglycoprotein of endothelial cells (Fig. 36). In 5-week experiment the number of capillaries per mm<sup>2</sup> and the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocyte profiles (all cross-sectioned muscle fibers with and without nuclei) were not significantly changed by TAC (Fig. 37). Ramipril treatment for 5 weeks increased the number of capillaries per mm<sup>2</sup> in all mice, however the difference was significant only between sham groups (Fig. 37). In contrast, the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocyte profiles was substantially elevated in all ramipril-treated animals (Fig. 38).



SHAM







SHAM +RAMIPRIL



**TAC+RAMIPRIL** 

Fig. 36: Capillaries in the left ventricular myocardium. Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. Immunostaining for podocalyxin. Capillaries in red (podocalyxin), cardiomyocytes in green ( $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin). Treatment with ramipril led to a significant increase of the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocyte profiles in all animals compared to control. Bar=30  $\mu$ m. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 37: Capillary density (podocalyxin) in the left ventricular myocardium of 5-week experiment mice. Ramipril treatment for 5 weeks increased the number of capillaries per mm<sup>2</sup> in all mice, however the difference was significant only between sham groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 38: Ratio of capillaries (podocalyxin) per cardiomyocyte profiles in the left ventricular myocardium of 5-week experiment mice. The ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocyte profiles was substantially elevated in all ramipril-treated animals. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

It must be underscored, that in 5-week experiment there was no distinction among groups in density of cardiomyocyte profiles (all cross-sectioned muscle fibers - with and without nuclei (Table 5). Pressure overload significantly increased the mean cross-sectional area of capillaries in 5-week experiment. Neither TAC nor ramipril treatment changed the number of capillaries per mm<sup>2</sup>, the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes, density of cardiomyocyte profiles and the mean cross-sectional area of capillaries in one-day experiment (Table 5).

Parameters	TAC	SHAM	TAC	SHAM	1dTAC	1dSHAM	1dTAC	1dSHAM
			+RAM	+RAM			+RAM	+RAM
Density of cardiomyocyte profiles per mm <sup>2</sup>	1834±114	2025±145	1741±108	2045±130	2258±164	2417±139	2460±127	2308±123
Mean cross- sectional area of capillaries, mm <sup>2</sup>	7.5±0.3 *	6.3±0.36 #	7.6±0.4 *	6.5±0.2	8.4± 0.5	7.7±0.5	8.0±0.3	8.1±0.6

Table 5 Density of cardiomyocyte profiles and mean cross-sectional area of capillaries

\*- p<0.05 compared to SHAM from the same group

#- p<0.05 compared to TAC from the same group

# 6.3.4. Bone marrow-derived endothelial cells

To examine to what degree bone marrow-derived cells contribute to cardiac remodeling and angiogenesis, co-staining for CD31 and GFP and immunostaining for GFP of Tie-2-positive cells were performed (Fig. 39, 40). Aortic constriction significantly increased the percentage of CD31-positive GFP cells; this effect was enhanced by ramipril in the pressure-overloaded mice but not in the sham group (Fig. 40).



Fig. 39: CD31-positive GFP cells in the myocardium of left ventricle. Paraffin sections of 5-week experiment mouse hearts. CD31-positive GFP cells in TAC-mouse are marked by arrows. CD31 in red, GFP in green, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar=  $30 \mu m$ .



Fig. 40: Percentage of CD31-positive GFP cells in the left ventricular myocardium of 5-week experiment bone marrow-transplanted mice. TAC increased the parameter; treatment with ramipril further enhanced this effect in pressure-overloaded mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

Tie-2 is a receptor tyrosine kinase, which binds and is activated by angiopoietins - protein growth factors that promote angiogenesis. Tie-2 is expressed principally on vascular endothelium and thus can be used as reliable marker for endothelial cells (Fig. 41). Five-week TAC significantly reduced the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2 cells per mm<sup>2</sup> (Fig. 42). Tie-2

TAC KMT-mice treated with ramipril exhibited substantially higher density of bone marrowderived Tie-2 cells in myocardium compared to Tie-2 BM-TAC animals (Fig. 42). In contrast, there was no difference between sham mice receiving vehicle and sham mice treated with ramipril (Fig. 42).





Fig. 41: Tie-2-GFP-positive cells from bone marrow in the left ventricular myocardium. Paraffin section of 5-week experiment mouse heart. GFP in green, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar =  $30\mu$ m.



Fig. 42: Number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-GFP-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in 5-week experiment. TAC reduced the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2 cells, which was substantially increased by ramipril treatment. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

A detailed knowledge of the relationship between cardiac capillaries and bone marrow-derived endothelial cells is very important for an understanding of the mechanisms of heart regeneration and for stimulation of myocardial restoration. However, the relationship could be different in distinct conditions: pressure overload, treatment with ramipril and their combination. To investigate interrelations between capillary density and number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in experimental groups, the statistical method of within-group correlations was used (Table 6).

Groups	R	р
SHAM	-0.99	0,008
TAC	-0.03	0.93
SHAM+ RAM	-0.06	0.95
TAC+ RAM	0.99	0.01

Table 6 Within-group correlations between capillary density and
number of Tie-2-positive cells per mm <sup>2</sup>

Within-group correlations demonstrated that in sham-operated animals capillary density negatively correlated with the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, however this interrelation disappeared after TAC. In contrast, treatment with ramipril caused positive relationship between these two parameters in the Tie-2 BM-TAC+RAM group, but disrupted it in Tie-2 BM-SHAM+RAM mice. Thus, application of ramipril in TAC mice led to a significant positive relationship between capillary density and density of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells in myocardium.

# 6.4. Bone marrow-derived myocyte progenitor cells

MEF-2 (myocyte enhancer factor 2) proteins are a family of transcription factors that play a pivotal role in the differentiation of stem cells toward a myocyte phenotype. Thus, co-staining for MEF-2 and GFP was performed to reveal bone marrow-derived myocyte progenitor cells in myocardium (Fig. 43).



Fig. 43: MEF-2-positive GFP cells. Paraffin section of a 5-week experiment TAC mouse heart. Two MEF-2-positive GFP cells between cardiomyocytes. MEF-2 in red, GFP in green, nuclei in blue by DAPI-staining. Bar =  $30\mu$ m.

Aortic constriction significantly increased the number of MEF-2<sup>pos</sup> GFP <sup>pos</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> (Fig. 44). Ramipril significantly enhanced the parameter in the sham group but not in the TAC mice (Fig. 44). These cells were not transdifferentiated into smooth muscle cells as examined by costaining of  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin, also we did not find any large cardiomyocyte derived from the bone marrow by co-staining with  $\alpha$ -sarcomeric actin and GFP.



Fig. 44: Number of bone marrow-derived MEF-2-GFP-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in 5-week experiment. TAC increased the number of bone marrow-derived MEF-2 cells. Ramipril substantially enhanced the parameter in the sham group, but not in the TAC mice. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; BM=bone marrow-transplanted mice; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

#### 6.5. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha

HIF-1 is a transcription factor composed of the constitutive HIF-1 $\beta$  and one of the hypoxiainducible subunits: HIF-1 $\alpha$ , HIF-2 $\alpha$ , HIF-3 $\alpha$ . In hypoxia, the  $\alpha/\beta$  heterodimer binds to the hypoxia response elements in target genes (171). HIF-1 $\alpha$  plays the most important role in the regulation of hypoxic response. According to our RT-PCR and Western blot results, one-day TAC substantially increased HIF-1 $\alpha$  content in the myocardium (Fig. 45, 46). However, after 5 weeks of aortic ligation the situation was reversed completely: HIF-1 $\alpha$  level was significantly higher in the sham-operated animals than in the TAC mice. Ramipril enhanced degradation of HIF-1 $\alpha$  on mRNA- and protein level in all groups in both short- and long-term experiments (Fig. 45, 46).



Fig. 45: Expression of HIF-1α-mRNA in the myocardium. Expression of HIF-1α-mRNA was increased by one-day TAC, but diminished by 5-week TAC. Ramipril treatment decreased HIF-1α-mRNA level in all groups. SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.



Fig. 46: Protein level of HIF-1α in the myocardium. Protein level of HIF-1α was increased by one-day TAC, but diminished by 5-week TAC. Ramipril treatment decreased protein level of HIF-1α in all groups SHAM=sham-operated mice; TAC=transverse aortic constriction; RAM=ramipril-treated mice.

# 7. Discussion

As demonstrated in clinical and experimental studies carried out during the past several decades, progression of adverse cardiac remodeling - comprising ventricular hypertrophy, myocardial fibrosis and loss of cardiac cells - plays a major role in the development of heart failure and should be regarded as a pivotal target for treatment. For this reason many cardiovascular drugs have been tested for their ability to improve clinical outcomes and to reduce or to prevent cardiac remodeling in patients with cardiovascular diseases. ACE inhibitors demonstrated significant amelioration of myocardial structure, reduction of death rate and prevention of congestive heart failure (43). On the other hand, there are evidences of their capacity to promote heart regeneration by mobilization of stem cells from the bone marrow (154). On this basis, influence of the ACE inhibitor ramipril on myocardial regeneration and cardiac remodeling mediated by bone marrow-derived cells in cardiac pressure overload was investigated.

# 7.1. Effects of ACE inhibition on cardiac remodeling in TAC

#### 7.1.1. Transverse aortic constriction leads to pressure overload

As expected, short- and long-term TAC significantly increased left ventricular systolic pressure, which was not reduced by ramipril. Furthermore, aortic ligation but not treatment with ramipril for 5 weeks substantially diminished both systolic and diastolic peripheral blood pressure. At the same time, ramipril ameliorated LVH induced by pressure overload for 5 weeks. These facts testify the effectiveness of the chosen pressure-overload model and prove our hypothesis that the observed effects of ramipril are not caused by hemodynamic changes.

#### 7.1.2. Amelioration of left ventricular hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis

Cardiac hypertrophy in cardiovascular diseases has traditionally been considered an adaptive response to biomechanical stress. However, results from the Framingham Heart Study showed an association between ventricular hypertrophy and increased cardiac mortality (164), casting doubt on the validity of the wall-stress hypothesis. Furthermore, experiments on different murine models, limiting the development of hypertrophy in response to chronic pressure overload demonstrated little or no deterioration in cardiac function after long-term TAC (36, 47). Thus, the quest for new drugs capable to reduce or to prevent cardiac hypertrophy is one of the main tasks of cardiovascular research.

In our study, as expected, 5-week TAC elicited LVH, which manifested itself as an increase in both the ratio of heart weight to tibia length and cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter.

Ramipril substantially reduced these parameters in TAC mice without BMT but did not diminish significantly left ventricular systolic pressure. The ratio of heart weight to tibia length and cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter were similar in all sham groups and in bone marrowtransplanted TAC mice and were not affected by ramipril. This effect can be explained by the existence of the threshold at which ramipril shows its antihypertrophic action. Our results agree with the findings of other experimental and clinical studies which have demonstrated the ability of both antihypertensive and non-antihypertensive ramipril doses to reduce LVH (79, 80, 88). As shown in animal experiments, the main mechanism underlying this beneficial effect of ramipril is the increase of cardiac kinin levels, which in turn stimulate the B2-kinin receptor (19, 79, 100). In particular, inhibition or knockout of the B2-kinin receptor abrogates the antihypertrophic effect of ramipril (148, 178). However, other mechanisms are also involved in this process. So, for example, ACE inhibition increases Ang-(1-7) level in the heart which in turn reverses cardiac hypertrophy (157). At the same time, some authors did not observe reduction of LVH in rats with TAC under the influence of ramipril (92, 184). However it is necessary to underline that the dose used in these experiments was 5 times lower (1 mg per body weight per day) than in our study (92, 185). Furthermore, dose-dependent anti-hypertrophic effects of ramipril have been demonstrated in experiments with spontaneously hypertensive rats (41). Kinin receptors of various species have different affinities for their ligands and hence different doses of ramipril are needed to produce a kinin level sufficient for receptor activation (123).

Myocardial fibrosis is another component of cardiac remodeling. Accumulation of extracellular matrix in the cardiac interstitium disrupts the coordination of myocardial excitation-contraction coupling in both systole and diastole and may result in profound functional impairment. Beyond its effects on function, myocardial fibrosis also promotes arrhythmogenesis through impaired anisotropic conduction and subsequent generation of reentry circuits (57). Therefore, inhibition of excessive production of collagen in myocardium is a critical task in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases and prevention of heart failure.

Five-week TAC elicited fibrotic change in the mice without BMT, which was most pronounced in the perivascular area of coronary arteries/arterioles of LV and progressed slowly along the small arterioles into the intercellular space between cardiomyocytes. The same pattern of cardiac fibrosis in mice with TAC was observed in the study of Xia et al. (177). The peculiarities of fibrotic change in the bone marrow-transplanted mice were its presence even in sham-operated animals and predominance of interstitial fibrosis that can be explained by influence of irradiation. It is assumed, that radiation-induced myocardial fibrosis results from injury to capillary endothelial cells that cause destruction or obstruction of capillaries and compromised microcirculation (139).

As it is known, pressure overload increases level of angiotensin II in the heart which in turn stimulates fibroblast proliferation, their transformation into myofibroblasts and intensive collagen synthesis by both cell types resulting in fibrotic change (121). Recent investigations have shown that fibroblasts in myocardium originate from three major sources: resident fibroblasts, bone marrow-derived fibroblasts and fibroblasts developed through endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (93, 145, 165, 180). In our study GFP-positive cells lacking both endothelial and myocardial markers massively infiltrated fibrotic areas. They might be inflammatory cells and fibroblasts migrated from the bone marrow and participated in cardiac remodeling.

Treatment with ramipril significantly reduced collagen content in both 5-week TAC groups and in BM-SHAM mice. Our results conform with those of Linz et. al. (79, 80) who demonstrated a potent antifibrotic effect of both antihypertensive and non-antihypertensive ramipril doses in different models of myocardial damage. Moreover, it was revealed that ramipril reduced cardiac mRNA levels of the collagens  $\alpha_1(I)$  [col I] and  $\alpha_1(III)$  [col III] in a ortic bandedhypertensive rats 2 and 6 weeks after aortic constriction (80). In further agreement with our results Grimm et al. (44) showed that ramipril but not hydralazine attenuated interstitial and perivascular fibrosis without markedly affecting left ventricular systolic pressure in aortic banded rats. Further, ramipril in comparison to vehicle- and hydralazine-treated rats significantly blunted the induction of connective tissue proteins such as collagen I and III, laminin B and fibronectin at both the mRNA and protein levels (44). The capacity of ramipril to elevate the level of cardiac kinins also plays a role in its antifibrotic effect. In particular, it was shown that treatment of isolated coronary microvessels with ramipril enhanced nitric oxide production through a kinin-mediated mechanism (182). At the same time, the increased cardiac level of nitric oxide produced by endothelial nitric oxide synthase can protect myocardium from interstitial and perivascular fibrosis in pressure overload (126). Recently, investigations have shown also, that increases of Ac-SDKP and Ang (1-7) levels through ACE inhibition suppress cardiac fibrosis (114, 136, 157). Probably in this way the antifibrotic influence of ramipril and other ACE inhibitors is mediated through different mechanisms.

It is significant that our histological findings (LVH, cardiac fibrosis) resemble typical pathological changes found in patients with cardiovascular diseases accompanied by left ventricular pressure overload (aortic stenosis and systemic hypertension) that confirms clinical and pathological relevance of our TAC model (139). Thus, ramipril reduced LVH as well as cardiac fibrosis in pressure overload. These features are crucial for prevention of adverse cardiac remodeling.

# 7.1.3. Cardiac cell turnover

Physiological cell turnover plays an important role in maintaining normal heart function and architecture. This is achieved by the dynamic balance of cell proliferation and apoptosis in distinct cell types forming the heart (21). New data obtained by Bergmann et al. (14) using radiocarbon dating of DNA provide strong evidence that cardiomyocytes can repopulate in the human heart, but this process is very slow and hence most cardiomyocytes will not be exchanged over the course of a normal human life span (14). However, adverse tissue remodeling in pathological conditions can disturb renewal of cardiomyocytes and other cardiac cells. This raises the questions how far maladaptive cardiac remodeling in pressure overload impairs cell turnover and how ramipril can improve it. To answer this, immunostaining for the proliferation marker Ki67 and in situ oligo ligation assay for apoptosis detection were used.

Ki67 is a protein of approximately 395 kDa located in the nucleus. It is present during all active phases of the cell cycle ( $G_1$ , S,  $G_2$  and mitosis), but is absent from the resting cell ( $G_0$ ) (18, 135). This makes it an excellent marker for determining the so-called growth fraction of a given cell population. However, the presence of Ki67 does not allow to define whether the cell will undergo cytokinesis or only karyokinesis. Pressure overload for 5 weeks significantly increased the number of Ki67-expressing non-cardiomyocytes and induced synthesis of Ki67 protein in some cardiomyocytes. In reviewing the literature, no data was found on the quantitative immunohistochemical comparison of cell proliferation in LV of sham- and TAC-operated adult mice. However, our findings are in agreement with the results of autoradiographic experiments carried out on normal mouse LV, autoradiographic experiments and immunostaining studies performed on LV of sham- and TAC- operated adult rats. Data from animal experiments demonstrated either the absence of thymidine-H<sup>3</sup>-, BrdU- or PCNA-labeled cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes in LV or their very low number which varied according different authors from 0.004 to 0.04% in adult mice and from 0.004 to 2.46% in adult rats (128, 142). Transverse aortic constriction in adult rats according to different sources increased their number to 0.3-29.75% (128, 142). Moreover, the present findings seem to be consistent with the immunostaining data obtained from human myocardial biopsies and autopsy hearts. Immunohistochemical investigations on proliferation rate in normal human myocardium revealed very small number of cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes expressing proliferation markers-Ki67 and PCNA, however it was significantly increased in the diseased human hearts (9).

Despite the pronounced expression of Ki67 in some cardiomyocytes after 5 weeks of TAC, they did not exhibit mitotic figures. Many of Ki67-negative cardiomyocytes had two nuclei; moreover, binuclear Ki67-expressing cardiomyocytes were found in some TAC animals,

testifying thereby that karyokinesis was not necessarily followed by cytokinesis and led to binucleation. This accords with earlier observations, which showed that most cardiomyocytes in the myocardium of adult mice are binucleated (163).

Some authors suggest that genome multiplication through polyploidy and multinucleation protects tissue from different kinds of stress and extends cell life span because it is associated with the increased expression of genes involved in protection from apoptosis, DNA damage, hypoxia and oxidative stress (5). As indirect evidence for this concept could be viewed our finding of Ki67-expressing cardiomyocytes in BM-SHAM mice whose cardiomyocyte short-axis diameters are significantly lower than those of non-transplanted sham mice. However, the influence of radiation induced this compensation mechanism. Therefore, it is possible that even though mature cardiomyocytes express Ki67, they do not necessarily divide and hence do not yield two daughter cells, their unfinished cell division leads to genome multiplication, which prolongs their life span. This might be a compensation mechanism, which saves cardiomyocytes from death and sustains organ structure and function under the pressure overload despite of insufficient cardiomyocyte renewal. Further investigations should elucidate interactions between two fundamental processes supporting architecture and function of the myocardium: cardiomyocyte renewal and genome multiplication in mature cardiomyocytes.

Apoptosis is another part of natural cell turnover (21), however its rate is increased in pressure overload, leading to disturbance of heart structure and function (8). To detect apoptosis the in situ oligo ligation assay, staining specifically cells that contain typical apoptotic double-stranded breaks which are blunt-ended or have a one base 3' overhang, was utilized (32). In our study 5-week TAC substantially increased the number of cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes undergoing apoptosis. Bone marrow transplantation led to augmented rate of apoptosis, which was further enhanced by TAC. At the same time, pressure overload did not influence the number of apoptotic bone marrow-derived cells. Our results are in agreement with those of Teiger et al. (152) who showed that pressure overload increased apoptosis rates of cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes in rat hearts. Moreover, data obtained from human hearts demonstrated that numbers of apoptotic cardiomyocyte nuclei varied at 0.001-0.002% in control hearts and 0.08-0.25% in various cardiac diseases (21). Correlation analysis confirmed the close positive associations between cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter, collagen content, characterizing cardiac remodeling and parameters of cardiomyocyte turnover.

Treatment with ramipril for 5 weeks significantly decreased the numbers of Ki67– positive cells in all groups independent of TAC and BMT. The reduction of apoptosis rates in all investigated cell types was observed only in the bone marrow-transplanted TAC animals. By contrast, in non-transplanted mice, ramipril significantly diminished only the number of apoptotic cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells in pressure overload.

Although in a literature search no information was found about the influence of ACE inhibitors on cell proliferation in pressure-overloaded adult heart, some authors showed that enalapril significantly decreased cell turnover (proliferation and apoptosis of cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes) in neonatal rat heart and in infarcted heart of adult rats (26, 151). As discussed above, cell division of mature cardiomyocytes induced through stress conditions leads to polyploidy which although it enhances cell life span could be viewed as indirect evidence of tissue stress. For this reason, the antiproliferative influence of ramipril on cardiomyocytes and other cardiac cells in pressure overload in combination with its antihypertrophic and antifibrotic effects might be rather positive because it mirrors the protective role of ACE inhibition against tissue stress thereby saving structure and function of the myocardium. On the other hand, in our TAC model of pressure overload, as well as in the model of pulmonary artery banding, ramipril substantially decreased the number of cardiac cells undergoing apoptosis (17). The positive correlations between cardiomyocyte short-axis diameter, collagen content and the parameters of cardiomyocyte turnover demonstrate that the decrease of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and cardiac fibrosis is associated with a reduction of the number of apoptotic and proliferating cardiomyocytes. It is noteworthy, that ramipril also ameliorated cell turnover in bone marrow transplanted-sham-operated animals. This demonstrates its mitigating effect on irradiationinduced damage (66, 131). Therefore, our study further confirmed the ability of ACE inhibitors, in particular of ramipril, to diminish cell turnover of cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes in the diseased heart. This must be regarded as a positive effect because along with antihypertrophic and antifibrotic effects, ACE inhibitor protects myocardial structure and function against pressure overload.

#### 7.2. Cardiac and extracardiac neoangiogenesis

Myocardial performance depends not only on the number and size of cardiomyocytes, but also on the vascular supply of energy substrates and oxygen. However, as mentioned in the introduction, a large body of research shows that although myocardial capillary growth and recruitment of reserve capillaries occur in the compensated phase of pathological cardiac hypertrophy caused by pressure overload, they are not able, unlike capillarisation in physiological cardiac hypertrophy, to maintain an adequate blood supply for growing cardiomyocytes (170). Moreover, recent investigations show that disruption of coordinated tissue growth and angiogenesis contributes to the transition from compensated cardiac hypertrophy to heart failure (132, 138). For this reasons, stimulation of angiogenesis and restoration of adequate blood supply in the hypertrophied myocardium are of paramount importance.

To evaluate myocardial capillary growth, immunostainings for platelet-endothelial cell adhesion molecule-1 (PECAM-1, CD31) as endothelial cell marker and podocalyxin as capillary marker were used. Pressure overload for 5 weeks significantly reduced the number of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, but did not change the ratio of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells to cardiomyocytes, capillary density and the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes. On the other hand, 5-week TAC substantially enhanced apoptosis rate in CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells and increased the mean cross-sectional area of capillaries. Thus, even though increased cardiac afterload reduced the number of endothelial cells in capillaries, the capillary density and the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes remained unchanged.

At first glance it would seem that the decreased number of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> is in contradiction with the unchanged capillary density. However, as discussed further below, the loss of endothelial cells in pressure-overloaded myocardium is compensated by development of new endothelial cells from cardiac- and bone marrow-derived stem cells and division of adult endothelial cells. They replace dead endothelial cells maintaining thereby capillary structure and density. However, increased cardiac afterload deteriorates eventually the ability of stem cells to proliferate and to differentiate into endothelial cells and the ability of adult endothelial cells to divide. This stops the replacement of dead endothelial cells and leads ultimately to a decrease of capillary density contributing thereby to the transition from compensated cardiac hypertrophy to heart failure. Moreover, as mentioned above, pressure overload in the compensated phase opens reserve capillaries and, what is more important, stimulates angiogenesis which along with the replacement of dead endothelial cells in capillaries sustains temporarily the capillary density and the ratio of capillary to cardiomyocytes. This contention is supported by our finding of new vessel formation in implanted subcutaneous polyvinyl discs in TAC animals. It is noteworthy, that although pressure overload for 5 weeks diminished the number of cardiomyocytes (crosssectioned muscle fibers having nuclei) per  $mm^2$ , it did not change the density of cardiomyocyte profiles (all cross-sectioned muscle fibers with and without nuclei). At first glance, these facts appear to be contradictory, however, this discrepancy can be explained by the laterally growth of side branches of existing cardiomyocytes, compensating cardiomyocyte loss (21). Thus, although pressure overload leads to apoptosis in endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes thereby reducing their density, development of new endothelial cells, recruitment of reserve capillaries, myocardial neoangiogenesis and formation of cardiomyocyte side branches sustain temporarily capillary density and the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes. However, as shown by ample evidence, the increased pressure overload leads eventually to disruption of coordinated cardiac

hypertrophy and angiogenesis. This in turn contributes to the transition from the compensated phase to heart failure.

Treatment with ramipril for 5 weeks significantly diminished apoptosis of endothelial cells, increased their density and the ratio of endothelial cells to cardiomyocytes in all groups. Furthermore, ACE inhibition elevated capillary density, but this enhancement was only significant in the sham-operated animals but not in the TAC group. This could be explained, as discussed above, by stimulation of new vessel formation in pressure overload, which smoothed out the difference between these TAC groups. Moreover, ramipril substantially augmented extracardiac angiogenesis in both groups. This was demonstrated in our study using subcutaneous implantation of polyvinyl discs. However, more importantly, ramipril increased the ratio of capillary to cardiomyocytes in all groups. It is noteworthy that this parameter augmentation in the group of aortic-ligated mice receiving ramipril was significant compared to both the TAC- and the sham-operated animals. At the same time, neither the mean cross-sectional area of capillaries nor the density of cardiomyocyte profiles were effected by ramipril. For these reasons, the increase of the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes was really caused by capillary growth but not by changing these two parameters.

Our findings are in agreement with the results of other investigators using alternative experimental models: spontaneously hypertensive rats, hypertension in rats induced through chronic nitric oxide inhibition by L-NAME, renal hypertension, injections of angiotensin II. They showed that although pressure overload and increased production of angiotensin II stimulate angiogenesis, ACE inhibition enhances this process many-fold (149, 159, 170). Elevation of bradykinin level under the influence of ACE inhibitors is thought to be the main mechanism promoting neoangiogenesis. In particular, it was shown that both blockade and knockout of B1- and B2-kinin receptors impaired neoangiogenesis induced by ACE inhibitors (42, 109, 140). However, this is not the only mechanism involved in angiogenesis promotion caused by ACE inhibitors. Increase of Ac-SDKP level exerted angiogenic effects on cultured endothelial cells and improved cardiac angiogenesis in rat myocardial infarction (84, 168). Further investigations will probably reveal new mechanisms underlying the angiogenic effects of ACE inhibitors. Thus, treatment with ramipril stimulated cardiac and extracardiac formation of new capillaries and increased the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes independent of pressure overload.
#### 7.3. Effects of ACE inhibition on the bone marrow-cardiac axis of myocardial regeneration

Bone marrow-derived stem cells, as discussed in the introduction, actively contribute to heart regeneration. Different biological active substances can enhance their mobilization and regenerative potential. Therefore to investigate the influence of ramipril on the impact of the bone marrow-derived cells on heart regeneration is of great interest and importance.

### 7.3.1. Endothelial progenitor cells

One-day TAC substantially increased the number of circulating EPC's in blood, but not in bone marrow. In contrast, 5-week TAC enhanced the EPC levels in both tissues, meanwhile, neither short- nor long-term pressure overload led to amelioration of EPC migratory capacity, which was increased by ramipril treatment in all groups. Moreover in the short-term but not in the long-term experiment this effect of ramipril was accompanied by enhanced EPC levels in blood and bone marrow.

The ramipril-induced EPC mobilization led to a significant increase in numbers of bone marrow- derived endothelial cells in the TAC hearts, as demonstrated by experiments with both types of bone marrow transplantation. Meanwhile, despite enhancing capillary density, ramipril did not significantly raise the number of bone marrow-derived endothelial cells in the myocardium of sham-operated animals. As was mentioned in the introduction, the major source of endothelial cells for new vessels is the vessels of injured tissue containing adult endothelial cells capable of mitosis and resident precursors of endothelial cells (146, 181), and the minor one is the EPC's from bone marrow (146). The data of our workgroup obtained from experiments with aortic ligation in eNOS knockout mice support this contention (97). It was expected that the number of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> and the ratio of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells to cardiomyocytes in pressureoverloaded myocardium would be significant lower in eNOS knockout mice than in wild type mice, because eNOS plays a pivotal role in EPC's mobilization from the bone marrow (155). However, contrary to expectations, it was found that although pressure overload in eNOS knockout mice did not increase EPC numbers in blood and bone marrow, comparison of the number of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells per mm<sup>2</sup> and the ratio of CD31<sup>pos</sup> cells to cardiomyocytes in eNOS knockout and wild type mice did not reveal any difference (97). Based on these findings, one can speculate that ramipril enhances capillarisation by stimulating both types of EPC's, however, in pressure-overloaded heart resident EPC's can not alone provide adequate neoangiogenesis because they suffer from pathological conditions in myocardium caused by pressure overload (e.g. apoptosis, endothelial-to-mesenchymal transformation) and so EPC's from bone marrow take more active part thereby increasing significantly the number of bone marrow-derived

endothelial cells in the heart. This consideration is sustained by within-group correlations between the capillary density and the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-GFP-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup>. The histological characterization of bone marrow cells migrating into the heart can be difficult because leucocytes or pericytes lay in the vicinity of endothelial cells. Moreover, different nonangiogenic inflammatory cells such as platelets, macrophages, granulocytes, T/NK cells, lymphocytes, neutrophils and mast cells express CD31 (53). To overcome these issues, Tie-2-GFP mice as donor animals for additional bone marrow transplantation studies were used. Tie-2 is the receptor of angiopoietin and consequently all cells possessing this protein take an active part in angiogenesis (34). For this reason, Tie-2 is a more reliable marker for bone marrow-derived cells involved in angiogenesis.

Negative correlation between the capillary density and the number of bone marrowderived Tie-2-GFP-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in the sham group testifies that in normal condition EPC's from bone marrow do not participate actively in capillary endothelial cell turnover. Disruption of this relationship by ramipril also argues for a relative small role of bone marrowderived EPC's in myocardial neoangiogenesis in sham-operated mice, because although on the one hand treatment with ramipril increased capillary density, on the other hand it diminished the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup>. One can assume that in this case increase in capillary density was caused by division and differentiation of resident endothelial precursor cells and division of adult endothelial cells stimulated by ramipril. Apparently, this process is slow, because neither the number of Ki67-positive non-cardiomyocytes nor the number of CD31-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> were increased in sham mice after three days of ramipril treatment. Aortic ligation for 5 weeks increased the percentage of bone marrow-derived CD31positive cells in the TAC-hearts, but reduced the density of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells. This contradiction could be explained by the fact that, as discussed above, apart from endothelial cells different nonangiogenic inflammatory cells express CD31. For this reason, one can assume that the majority of bone marrow-derived CD31-positive cells in pressureoverloaded myocardium is nonangiogenic inflammatory cells. Hence, TAC-induced mobilization of EPC's from bone marrow did not raise the number of Tie-2-GFP-positive cells in the heart, moreover there was no correlation between the capillary density and the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in the TAC-mice. This fact can not be explained by apoptosis of bone marrow-derived cells because neither aortic ligation nor ramipril treatment changed apoptosis rate in GFP-positive cells. However, recently Zeisberg et al. (180) have shown that cardiac endothelial cells contribute to cardiac fibrosis in an aortic banding model through endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition elicited by TGF-β1. One can assume that bone marrow-derived EPC's transdifferentiate into fibroblasts enhancing thereby cardiac fibrosis. The presence of a large number of CD31-positive GFP cells and bone marrow-derived Tie-2-GFPpositive cells in fibrotic areas can be viewed as an argument in favor of this hypothesis. Hence, transformation of old and new endothelial cells in fibroblasts might be one more reason of disruption of coordinated tissue growth and angiogenesis resulting in the transition from compensated cardiac hypertrophy to heart failure.

At the same time both clinical and experimental studies revealed the ability of ramipril to reduce TGF- $\beta$ 1 level in the plasma and in the heart (133, 179). One further possible mechanism of ramipril's ameliorative effect on the myocardial structure and capillarisation is the inhibition of endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition by reduction of TGF- $\beta$ 1 level. Treatment with ramipril of aortic-ligated mice led ultimately to the positive correlation between capillary density and the number of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in the heart, demonstrating thereby participation of EPC's from bone marrow in ramipril-induced neoangiogenesis. Thus, ramipril raised the numbers of EPC's in blood and bone marrow, ameliorated their migratory capacity and increased the number of bone marrow-derived revel endothelial cells in pressure-overloaded myocardium.

#### 7.3.2. Mechanisms of ramipril-induced EPC mobilization

Recent investigations have revealed different beneficial effects of the RAAS modulation on progenitor cells (119). Our findings on circulating EPC's in blood are in agreement with those of Min et al. (91) who showed improvement of migration, proliferation, adhesion, *in vitro* vasculogenesis capacity and increase of EPC level in blood under the influence of ramipril in patients with stable coronary artery disease. At the same time, these effects did not correlate with plasma levels of classical angiogenic factors as VEGF, GM-CSF or tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ . However, mobilization, improvement of EPC functions and stimulation of angiogenesis could be caused by angiogenic factors in the heart itself. In particular, Sano et al. (132) demonstrated that although myocardial angiogenesis was promoted by HIF-1 $\alpha$ -dependent induction of angiogenic factors during the first week after TAC, pressure overload for 4 weeks substantially reduced HIF-1 $\alpha$  level despite the presence of hypoxia through accumulation of p53 that impaired vessel formation. This impairment can also be caused by p53-induced premature senescence of endothelial and stem cells that ultimately leads to apoptosis (25, 69). Similar results were obtained in our experiments: expression and protein level of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in pressure-overloaded heart were substantially increased in short-term experiment, but diminished in the long-term one.

Morrissey et al. (95) showed reduction of p53 mRNA level in kidney under the influence of ACE inhibition in unilateral ureteral obstruction. Since induced through ureteral obstruction increase of urine pressure in the kidney resembles pressure overload in aortic ligation, one can

assume that ACE inhibition can reduce p53 expression in myocardium enhancing thereby mRNA and protein levels of HIF-1 $\alpha$ . Thus, one can speculate that observed effects of ramipril on EPC's and cardiac angiogenesis might be caused by increase of HIF-1 $\alpha$  level in the heart. Contrary to expectations, ramipril significantly diminished HIF-1a level in all groups in both types of experiment. This suggests that intervention through ACE inhibition acts on EPC's independently from HIF-1 $\alpha$  induced angiogenic factors. Moreover, this reduction of HIF-1 $\alpha$ level, unlike 5-week TAC with vehicle treatment, must be regarded as a positive effect of ramipril because it is accompanied by neoangiogenesis and amelioration of cardiac remodeling. It is noteworthy that other inhibitors of ACE also promote EPC mobilization, proliferation and amelioration of their migratory capacity, which, according to different authors, are mediated not through one but through many distinct mechanisms. In particular, Thum et al. (154) showed that trandolapril increased EPC level in blood by eNOS-independent activation of MMP-9 in the bone marrow. At the same time, Kränkel et al. (68) revealed that mobilization and angiogenic action of EPC's in injured tissues are mediated by the B2-receptor of bradykinin via a B2R/phosphoinositide 3-kinase/eNOS-pathway. This influence of ACE inhibitors on circulating EPC level is not confined to altering of activity and modification of pre-existing proteins but also includes change of gene expression. Specifically, treatment with ramipril increased the number of circulating EPC's in patients with essential hypertension. This was accompanied by enhanced expressing of homeobox A9 in these cells, which contributes to endothelial commitment of EPC, postnatal neovascularisation and endothelium repair (113).

Similarly, different mechanisms may be involved in the reduction of EPC level in blood and bone marrow after 5 weeks of ramipril treatment. For instance, long-term ACE inhibition may exhaust the bone marrow- or peripheral blood EPC pool or may make EPC's incapable to respond adequately to a continuously present stimulus for mobilization in terms of desensitization. For example, as detailed above, increased bradykinin level and its B2-receptor play a very important role in the realization of ACE inhibitor effects on EPC's. Blaukat et al. (16) demonstrated downregulation of the B2-receptor in human fibroblasts during prolonged agonist exposure. One can speculate that this mechanism also underlies the observed reduction of EPC levels. Since ramipril ameliorated EPC migratory capacity and stimulated angiogenesis more effectively than pressure overload, a depletion of EPC pool may not only be due to exhausted mobilization, but may also be attributable to enhanced recruitment and improved neoendothelial incorporation of EPC's.

Despite the fact that change of myocardial protein level of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in pressure overload, treatment with ramipril and their combination does not play a role in feed back regulation of EPC mobilization and neoangiogenesis, other feedback mechanisms can cause the observed

effects. At the same time considering the pleiotropic effects of ramipril, the reduction of EPC's level in blood and bone marrow after 5 weeks of treatment might be also caused by other still unknown mechanisms. Thus, the observed influence of ramipril on EPCs is not caused by HIF- $1\alpha$ -dependent induction of angiogenic factors in the heart and might be mediated not through one but through different mechanisms demonstrating thereby the pleiotropic effects of ACE inhibition.

### 7.3.3. Myocyte progenitor cells

Stem cells expressing early cardiac markers including myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF-2) were recently identified in bone marrow (70, 175). Moreover, they are mobilized to the peripheral blood and chemo-attracted to the infarcted myocardium in mice. Our findings demonstrate that increased cardiac afterload upregulated MEF-2<sup>pos</sup>-GFP <sup>pos</sup> cells in the myocardium. Ramipril significantly enhanced their number in the sham group but not in the TAC mice. The increase of MEF-2<sup>pos</sup>-GFP <sup>pos</sup> cells in the myocardium in pressure overload and under the influence of ramipril might be mediated through two different mechanisms. Treatment of TAC mice with ramipril did not significantly increase the number of bone marrow-derived myocyte progenitor cells in comparison to the untreated TAC group.

Myocyte progenitor cells did not transdifferentiate in adult cardiomyocytes or smooth muscle cells. However, as discussed in the introduction, bone marrow-derived cardiomyocytes were found in different models of myocardial damage: transaortic constriction (35), myocardial infarction (89) and pulmonary hypertension (144). Moreover, Matsushima et al. (89) revealed that perindopril stimulated the formation of new cardiomyocytes in the infarcted mouse heart. Nevertheless, our results highlight the ability of ramipril to increase the number of bone marrow-derived myocyte progenitor cells in myocardium. Further investigations must be performed to stimulate differentiation of mobilized myocyte progenitor cells into adult cardiomyocytes furnishing thereby the opportunity to create new therapeutic approaches for cardiomyocyte repopulation in diseased heart. All discussed mechanisms of ramipril action under condition of increased cardiac afterload are depicted in figure 47.



Fig. 47: Possible mechanisms of ramipril action in increased cardiac afterload

78

The following conclusions can be drawn from the present study.

### 7.4. Conclusions

1. Transverse aortic constriction for one day and five weeks is a suitable model to investigate the short- and long-term effects of ACE inhibition, which are not caused by reduction of peripheral blood pressure on cardiac remodeling under conditions of increased cardiac afterload.

2. Ramipril ameliorates cardiac remodeling by reducing LVH and cardiac fibrosis in pressureoverloaded myocardium.

3. Increased cardiac afterload for 5 weeks and radioactive radiation stimulate cell turnover in the myocardium which manifests itself as raise of numbers of proliferating and apoptotic non-cardiomyocytes, induction of Ki-67 synthesis and apoptosis in cardiomyocytes and an increase in apoptotic rates of endothelial cells. There are positive interrelationships between parameters characterizing remodeling of heart tissue and cell turnover parameters.

4. Ramipril normalizes cardiac cell turnover in pressure-overloaded myocardium by reducing apoptotic rates in cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells, diminishing the number of Ki-67-positive cardiomyocytes. Moreover, in bone marrow-transplanted animals ramipril decreases apoptosis and proliferation rates in cardiomyocytes and non-cardiomyocytes in all groups.

5. Pressure overload for 5 weeks diminishes the density of endothelial cells in the myocardium but does not change the ratio of endothelial cells to cardiomyocytes, the capillary density and the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes. Ramipril significantly increases the density of endothelial cells, the ratio of endothelial cells to cardiomyocytes and the ratio of capillaries to cardiomyocytes in all groups.

6. Increased cardiac afterload and ramipril treatment in all groups promote extracardiac capillary growth.

7. In short-term experiment the EPC level in blood is increased by TAC and ramipril, in the bone marrow only by ramipril. In long-term experiment the EPC level in blood and in the bone marrow is augmented under conditions of increased cardiac afterload. In both short- and long-term experiments ramipril ameliorates migratory capacity of EPC's.

8. Pressure overload of LV for 5 weeks raises the number of bone marrow-derived CD31 cells, but reduces the density of bone marrow-derived Tie-2-positive cells therein. By contrast, ramipril increases both parameters in the aortic-ligated group promoting thereby myocardial capillary growth.

9. Both short- and long-term treatment with ramipril decreases myocardial level of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in all groups. The observed effects of ramipril on EPC's and capillary growth in the myocardium are not caused by HIF-1 $\alpha$ -dependent induction of angiogenic factors in the heart and might be mediated not through one but through different mechanisms caused by the pleiotropic effects of ACE inhibition.

10. Increased cardiac afterload and treatment with ramipril for five weeks upregulate the number of bone marrow-derived myocyte progenitor cells in the myocardium. Combination of TAC and ramipril does not enhance this effect.

Our findings testify that aside from its antihypertensive action ramipril has other ameliorative effects on the cardiovascular system, which comprise diminishment of cardiac remodeling, stimulation of cardiac and extracardiac neoangiogenesis and mobilization of bone marrow-derived stem cells participating in myocardial regeneration. Further investigations must unveil different mechanisms underlying these effects that will furnish the opportunities to create new strategies in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases and cardiovascular drug development.

## 8. References

- 1. Abbott JD, Huang Y, Liu D, Hickey R, Krause DS, Giordano FJ (2004) Stromal cell-derived factor-1alpha plays a critical role in stem cell recruitment to the heart after myocardial infarction but is not sufficient to induce homing in the absence of injury. Circulation 110:3300-3305
- 2. Adachi Y, Imagawa J, Suzuki Y, Yogo K, Fukazawa M, Kuromaru O, Saito Y (2004) G-CSF treatment increases side population cell infiltration after myocardial infarction in mice. J Mol Cell Cardiol 36:707-710
- 3. Ahuja P, Sdek P, MacLellan WR (2007) Cardiac myocyte cell cycle control in development, disease and regeneration. Physiol Rev 87:521-544
- 4. Alvarez-Dolado M, Pardal R, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Fike JR, Lee HO, Pfeffer K, Lois C, Morrison SJ, Alvarez-Buylla A (2003) Fusion of bone-marrow-derived cells with Purkinje neurons, cardiomyocytes and hepatocytes. Nature 425:968-973
- 5. Anatskaya OV, Vinogradov AE (2007) Genome multiplication as adaptation to tissue survival: evidence from gene expression in mammalian heart and liver. Genomics 89:70-80
- 6. Anitschkow NN (1913) Experimentelle Untersuchungen über die Neubildung des Granulationsgewebes im Herzmuskel. Beitr Pathol Anat 210:373-340
- 7. Anitschkow NN (1913) Über die Histogenese der Myokardveränderungen bei einigen Intoxikationen. Virchows Arch Pathol Anat Physiol Klin Med 211:193-198
- Anselmi A, Gaudino M, Baldi A, Vetrovec GW, Bussani R, Possati G, Abbate A (2008) Role of apoptosis in pressure-overload cardiomyopathy. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown) 9:227-232
- 9. Arbustini E, Diegoli M, Grasso M, Fasani R, D'Armini A, Martinelli L, Goggi C, Campana C, Gavazzi A, Viganò M (1993) Expression of proliferating cell markers in normal and diseased human hearts. Am J Cardiol 72:608-614
- Asahara T, Murohara T, Sullivan A, Silver M, van der Zee R, Li T, Witzenbichler B, Schatteman G, Isner JM (1997) Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science 275:964-967
- 11. Azizi SA, Stokes D, Augelli BJ, DiGirolamo C, Prockop DJ (1998) Engraftment and migration of human bone marrow stromal cells implanted in the brains of albino rats-similarities to astrocyte grafts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:3908-3913
- 12. Belonje AM, Voors AA, van Gilst WH, Anker SD, Slart RH, Tio RA, Zijlstra F, van Veldhuisen DJ (2008) Effects of erythropoietin after an acute myocardial infarction: rationale and study design of a prospective, randomized, clinical trial (HEBE III). Am Heart J 155:817-822

- 13. Beltrami AP, Urbanek K, Kajstura J, Yan SM, Finato N, Bussani R, Nadal-Ginard B, Silvestri F, Leri A, Beltrami CA, Anversa P (2001) Evidence that human cardiac myocytes divide after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 344:1750-1757
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabé-Heider F, Walsh S, Zupicich J, Alkass K, Buchholz BA, Druid H, Jovinge S, Frisén J (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324:98-102
- 15. Bittmann I, Hentrich M, Bise K, Kolb HJ, Löhrs U (2003) Endothelial cells but not epithelial cells or cardiomyocytes are partially replaced by donor cells after allogeneic bone marrow and stem cell transplantation. J Hematother Stem Cell Res 12:359-366
- 16. Blaukat A, Micke P, Kalatskaya I, Faussner A, Müller-Esterl W (2003) Downregulation of bradykinin B2 receptor in human fibroblasts during prolonged agonist exposure. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 284:H1909-H1916
- 17. Braun MU, Szalai P, Strasser RH, Borst MM (2003) Right ventricular hypertrophy and apoptosis after pulmonary artery banding: regulation of PKC isozymes. Cardiovasc Res 59:658-667
- 18. Brown DC, Gatter KC (2002) Ki67 protein: the immaculate deception? Histopathology 40:2-11
- 19. Bruckschlegel G, Holmer SR, Jandeleit K, Grimm D, Muders F, Kromer EP, Riegger GA, Schunkert H (1995) Blockade of the renin-angiotensin system in cardiac pressure-overload hypertrophy in rats. Hypertension 25:250-259
- 20. Brunner S, Engelmann MG, Franz WM (2008) Stem cell mobilization for myocardial repair. Expert Opin Biol Ther 8:1675-1690
- 21. Buja LM, Vela D (2008) Cardiomyocyte death and renewal in the normal and diseased heart. Cardiovasc Pathol 17:349-374
- 22. Burghoff S, Ding Z, Gödecke S, Assmann A, Wirrwar A, Buchholz D, Sergeeva O, Leurs C, Hanenberg H, Müller HW, Bloch W, Schrader J. (2008) Horizontal gene transfer from human endothelial cells to rat cardiomyocytes after intracoronary transplantation. Cardiovasc Res 77:534-543
- 23. Bustin SA (ed) (2004) A-Z of Quantitative PCR. Intl Univ Line, California
- 24. Caplan AI, Dennis JE (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. J Cell Biochem 98:1076-1084
- 25. Chen J, Goligorsky MS (2006) Premature senescence of endothelial cells: Methusaleh's dilemma. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 290:H1729-H1739
- 26. Choi JH, Yoo KH, Cheon HW, Kim KB, Hong YS, Lee JW, Kim SK, Kim CH (2002) Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition decreases cell turnover in the neonatal rat heart. Pediatr Res 52:325-332

- 27. Chomczynski P, Sacchi N (1987) Single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction. Anal Biochem 162:156-159
- 28. Clavel C, Verfaillie CM (2008) Bone-marrow-derived cells and heart repair. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 13:36-43
- 29. Conget PA, Minguell JJ (1999) Phenotypical and functional properties of human bone marrow mesenchymal progenitor cells. J Cell Physiol 181:67-73
- 30. Dagenais GR, Yusuf S, Bourassa MG, Yi Q, Bosch J, Lonn EM, Kouz S, Grover J; HOPE Investigators (2001) Effects of ramipril on coronary events in high-risk persons: results of the Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study. Circulation 104:522-526
- 31. de Weger RA, Verbrugge I, Bruggink AH, van Oosterhout MM, de Souza Y, van Wichen DF, Gmelig-Meyling FH, de Jonge N, Verdonck LF (2008) Stem cellderived cardiomyocytes after bone marrow and heart transplantation. Bone Marrow Transplant 41:563-569
- 32. Didenko VV, Tunstead JR, Hornsby PJ (1998) Biotin-labeled hairpin oligonucleotides: probes to detect double-strand breaks in DNA in apoptotic cells. Am J Pathol 152:897-902
- 33. Dzau V (2005) The cardiovascular continuum and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system blockade. J Hypertens Suppl 23:S9-S17
- 34. Eklund L, Olsen BR (2006) Tie receptors and their angiopoietin ligands are contextdependent regulators of vascular remodeling. Exp Cell Res 312:630-641
- 35. Endo J, Sano M, Fujita J, Hayashida K, Yuasa S, Aoyama N, Takehara Y, Kato O, Makino S, Ogawa S, Fukuda K (2007) Bone marrow derived cells are involved in the pathogenesis of cardiac hypertrophy in response to pressure overload. Circulation 116:1176-1184
- 36. Esposito G, Rapacciuolo A, Naga Prasad SV, Takaoka H, Thomas SA, Koch WJ, Rockman HA(2002) Genetic alterations that inhibit in vivo pressure-overload hypertrophy prevent cardiac dysfunction despite increased wall stress. Circulation 105:85-92
- 37. Ferrarini M, Arsic N, Recchia FA, Zentilin L, Zacchigna S, Xu X, Linke A, Giacca M, Hintze TH (2006) Adeno-associated virus-mediated transduction of VEGF165 improves cardiac tissue viability and functional recovery after permanent coronary occlusion in conscious dogs. Circ Res 98:954-961
- 38. Frangogiannis NG (2008) The immune system and cardiac repair. Pharmacol Res 58:88-111
- 39. Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP (1968) Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. Transplantation 6:230-247

- 40. Fukuhara S, Tomita S, Nakatani T, Ohtsu Y, Ishida M, Yutani C, Kitamura S (2004) G-CSF promotes bone marrow cells to migrate into infarcted mice heart, and differentiate into cardiomyocytes. Cell Transplant 13:741-748
- 41. Gohlke P, Linz W, Schölkens B, Van Even P, Martorana P, Unger T (1996) Vascular and cardiac protection by ramipril in spontaneously hypertensive rats: prevention versus regression study. Br J Clin Pract Suppl 84:1-10
- 42. Gohlke P, Kuwer I, Schnell A, Amann K, Mall G, Unger T (1997) Blockade of bradykinin B2 receptors prevents the increase in capillary density induced by chronic angiotensin- converting enzyme inhibitor treatment in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 29:478-482
- 43. Greenberg BH (2002) Effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors on remodeling in clinical trials. J Card Fail 8:S486-S490
- 44. Grimm D, Kromer EP, Böcker W, Bruckschlegel G, Holmer SR, Riegger GA, Schunkert H (1998) Regulation of extracellular matrix proteins in pressure-overload cardiac hypertrophy: effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition. J Hypertens 16:1345-355
- 45. Hare JM, Chaparro SV (2008) Cardiac regeneration and stem cell therapy. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 13:536-542
- 46. Higashiyama H, Sugai M, Inoue H, Mizuyachi K, Kushida H, Asano S, Kinoshita M (2007) Histopathological study of time course changes in inter-renal aortic bandinginduced left ventricular hypertrophy of mice. Int J Exp Pathol 88:31-38
- 47. Hill JA, Rothermel B, Yoo KD, Cabuay B, Demetroulis E, Weiss RM, Kutschke W, Bassel-Duby R, Williams RS (2002) Targeted inhibition of calcineurin in pressureoverload cardiac hypertrophy. Preservation of systolic function. J Biol Chem 277:10251-10255
- 48. Hirata A, Minamino T, Asanuma H, Fujita M, Wakeno M, Myoishi M, Tsukamoto O, Okada K, Koyama H, Komamura K, Takashima S, Shinozaki Y, Mori H, Shiraga M, Kitakaze M, Hori M (2006) Erythropoietin enhances neovascularisation of ischemic myocardium and improves left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction in dogs. J Am Coll Cardiol 48:176-184
- 49. Hoenig MR, Bianchi C, Sellke FW (2008) Hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha, endothelial progenitor cells, monocytes, cardiovascular risk, wound healing, cobalt and hydralazine: a unifying hypothesis. Curr Drug Targets 9:422-435
- 50. Hu Y, Davison F, Zhang Z, Xu Q (2003) Endothelial replacement and angiogenesis in arteriosclerotic lesions of allografts are contributed by circulating progenitor cells. Circulation 108:3122-3127
- 51. Ince H, Petzsch M, Kleine HD, Schmidt H, Rehders T, Körber T, Schümichen C, Freund M, Nienaber CA (2005) Preservation from left ventricular remodeling by front-integrated revascularization and stem cell liberation in evolving acute myocardial infarction by use of granulocyte-colony-stimulating factor (FIRSTLINE-AMI). Circulation 112:3097-3106

- 52. Iwasaki H, Kawamoto A, Ishikawa M, Oyamada A, Nakamori S, Nishimura H, Sadamoto K, Horii M, Matsumoto T, Murasawa S, Shibata T, Suehiro S, Asahara T (2006) Dose-dependent contribution of CD34-positive cell transplantation to concurrent vasculogenesis and cardiomyogenesis for functional regenerative recovery after myocardial infarction. Circulation 113:1311-1325
- 53. Jackson DE (2003) The unfolding tale of PECAM-1. FEBS Lett 540:7-14
- 54. Jackson KA, Majka SM, Wang H, Pocius J, Hartley CJ, Majesky MW, Entman ML, Michael LH, Hirschi KK, Goodell MA (2001) Regeneration of ischemic cardiac muscle and vascular endothelium by adult stem cells. J Clin Invest 107:1395-1402
- 55. Janssens S, Dubois C, Bogaert J, Theunissen K, Deroose C, Desmet W, Kalantzi M, Herbots L, Sinnaeve P, Dens J, Maertens J, Rademakers F, Dymarkowski S, Gheysens O, Van Cleemput J, Bormans G, Nuyts J, Belmans A, Mortelmans L, Boogaerts M, Van de Werf F (2006) Autologous bone marrow-derived stem-cell transfer in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: double-blind, randomized controlled trial. Lancet 367:113-121
- 56. Jujo K, Ii M, Losordo DW (2008) Endothelial progenitor cells in neovascularization of infarcted myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 45:530-544
- 57. Katz AM (2005) Physiology of the heart. 4th ed. Lippencott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia
- 58. Kawada H, Fujita J, Kinjo K, Matsuzaki Y, Tsuma M, Miyatake H, Muguruma Y, Tsuboi K, Itabashi Y, Ikeda Y, Ogawa S, Okano H, Hotta T, Ando K, Fukuda K (2004) Nonhematopoietic mesenchymal stem cells can be mobilized and differentiate into cardiomyocytes after myocardial infarction. Blood 104:3581-3587
- 59. Kehat I, Khimovich L, Caspi O, Gepstein A, Shofti R, Arbel G, Huber I, Satin J, Itskovitz- Eldor J, Gepstein L (2004) Electromechanical integration of cardiomyocytes derived from human embryonic stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 22:1282-1289
- 60. Key M (eds) (2006) Immunochemical staining methods 4th ed. DAKO Cytomation Corporation, Carpinteria, California
- 61. King ES (1940) Regeneration in cardiac muscle. Br Heart J 2:155-164
- 62. Kirby ML (2007) Cardiac Development. 1st ed. Oxford University Press, New York
- 63. Klinge O (1967) Proliferation und Regeneration am Myokard. Lichtmikroskopische und autoradiographische Untersuchungen am unversehrten und infarzierten Herzmuskel erwachsener Ratten. Z Zellforsch 80:488-517
- 64. Klug MG, Soonpaa MH, Koh GY, Field LJ (1996) Genetically selected cardiomyocytes from differentiating embryonic stem cells form stable intracardiac grafts. J Clin Invest 98:216-224

- 65. Kogan ME, Belov LN (1978) Proportion and number of muscle cells with different numbers of nuclei in the left ventricular myocardium of mice with hypertrophy caused by constriction of the ascending aorta (in Russian). Tsitologia 20:712-717
- 66. Kohl RR, Kolozsvary A, Brown SL, Zhu G, Kim JH (2007) Differential radiation effect in tumor and normal tissue after treatment with ramipril, an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor. Radiat Res1 68:440-445
- 67. Korecky B, Rakusan K (1978) Normal and hypertrophied rat heart: Changes in cell dimensions and number. Am J Physiol 234:H123-H128
- 68. Kränkel N, Katare RG, Siragusa M, Barcelos LS, Campagnolo P, Mangialardi G, Fortunato O, Spinetti G, Tran N, Zacharowski K, Wojakowski W, Mroz I, Herman A, Manning Fox JE, MacDonald PE, Schanstra JP, Bascands JL, Ascione R, Angelini G, Emanueli C, Madeddu P (2008) Role of kinin B2 receptor signaling in the recruitment of circulating progenitor cells with neovascularization potential. Circ Res 103:1335-1343
- 69. Krizhanovsky V, Lowe SW (2009) Stem cells: The promises and perils of p53. Nature 460:1085-1086
- 70. Kucia M, Dawn B, Hunt G, Guo Y, Wysoczynski M, Majka M, Ratajczak J, Rezzoug F, Ildstad ST, Bolli R, Ratajczak MZ (2004) Cells expressing early cardiac markers reside in the bone marrow and are mobilized into the peripheral blood after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 95:1191-1199
- 71. Kucia M, Reca R, Campbell FR, Zuba-Surma E, Majka M, Ratajczak J, Ratajczak MZ (2006) A population of very small embryonic-like (VSEL) CXCR4(+)SSEA-1(+)Oct-4+ stem cells identified in adult bone marrow. Leukemia 20:857-869
- 72. Kucia M, Halasa M, Wysoczynski M, Baskiewicz-Masiuk M, Moldenhawer S, Zuba-Surma E, Czajka R, Wojakowski W, Machalinski B, Ratajczak MZ (2007) Morphological and molecular characterization of novel population of CXCR4+ SSEA-4+ Oct-4+ very small embryonic-like cells purified from human cord blood: preliminary report. Leukemia 21:297-303
- 73. Laemmli UK (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227:680-685
- 74. Laflamme MA, Myerson D, Saffitz JE, Murry CE (2002) Evidence for cardiomyocyte repopulation by extracardiac progenitors in transplanted human hearts. Circ Res 90:634-640
- 75. Laflamme MA, Murry CE (2005) Regenerating the heart. Nat Biotechnol 23:845-856
- 76. Lee SS, Naqvi TZ, Forrester J, Cattley R, Shah A, Frantzen M, Miyamoto T, Kaufman S, Price MJ, Lill M, Makkar RR (2007) The effect of granulocyte colony stimulating factor on regional and global myocardial function in the porcine infarct model. Int J Cardiol 116:225-230

- 77. Leone AM, Galiuto L, Garramone B, Rutella S, Giannico MB, Brugaletta S, Perfetti M, Liuzzo G, Porto I, Burzotta F, Niccoli G, Biasucci LM, Leone G, Rebuzzi AG, Crea F (2007) Usefulness of granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in patients with a large anterior wall acute myocardial infarction to prevent left ventricular remodeling (the Rigenera study). Am J Cardiol 100:397-403
- 78. Linke A, Müller P, Nurzynska D, Casarsa C, Torella D, Nascimbene A, Castaldo C, Cascapera S, Böhm M, Quaini F, Urbanek K, Leri A, Hintze TH, Kajstura J, Anversa P (2005) Stem cells in the dog heart are self-renewing, clonogenic, and multipotent and regenerate infarcted myocardium, improving cardiac function. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:8966-8971
- 79. Linz W, Wiemer G, Gohlke P, Unger T, Schölkens BA (1995) Contribution of kinins to the cardiovascular actions of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. Pharmacol Rev 47:25-49
- 80. Linz W, Wiemer G, Schaper J, Zimmermann R, Nagasawa K, Gohlke P, Unger T, Schölkens BA (1995) Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, left ventricular hypertrophy and fibrosis. Mol Cell Biochem 147:89-97
- 81. Linzbach AJ (1948) Herzhypertrophie und kritisches Herzgewicht. Klin. Wschr. 26:459-463
- 82. Linzbach AJ (1950) Die Muskelfaserkonstante und das Wachstumsgesetz der menschlichen Herzkammern. Virch Arch 318:575-618
- 83. Liu JJ, Peng L, Bradley CJ, Zulli A, Shen J, Buxton BF (2000) Increased apoptosis in the heart of genetic hypertension, associated with increased fibroblasts. Cardiovasc Res 45:729-735
- 84. Liu JM, Lawrence F, Kovacevic M, Bignon J, Papadimitriou E, Lallemand JY, Katsoris P, Potier P, Fromes Y, Wdzieczak-Bakala J (2003) The tetrapeptide AcSDKP, an inhibitor of primitive hematopoietic cell proliferation, induces angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Blood 10:3014-3020
- 85. Lunde K, Solheim S, Aakhus S, Arnesen H, Abdelnoor M, Egeland T, Endresen K, Ilebekk A, Mangschau A, Fjeld JG, Smith HJ, Taraldsrud E, Grøgaard HK, Bjørnerheim R, Brekke M, Müller C, Hopp E, Ragnarsson A, Brinchmann JE, Forfang K (2006) Intracoronary injection of mononuclear bone marrow cells in acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 355:1199-1209
- 86. Makino S, Fukuda K, Miyoshi S, Konishi F, Kodama H, Pan J, Sano M, Takahashi T, Hori S, Abe H, Hata J, Umezawa A, Ogawa S (1999) Cardiomyocytes can be generated from marrow stromal cells in vitro. J Clin Invest 103:697-705
- 87. Massa M, Rosti V, Ferrario M, Campanelli R, Ramajoli I, Rosso R, De Ferrari GM, Ferlini M, Goffredo L, Bertoletti A, Klersy C, Pecci A, Moratti R, Tavazzi L (2005) Increased circulating hematopoietic and endothelial progenitor cells in the early phase of acute myocardial infarction. Blood 105:199-206

- 88. Mathew J, Sleight P, Lonn E, Johnstone D, Pogue J, Yi Q, Bosch J, Sussex B, Probstfield J, Yusuf S; Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation (HOPE) Investigators (2001) Reduction of cardiovascular risk by regression of electrocardiographic markers of left ventricular hypertrophy by the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor ramipril. Circulation 104:1615-1621
- 89. Matsushima A, Nakamura H, Umemoto S, Matsuzaki M (2008) Regulation of cardiac regeneration by ACE inhibition following donor heart myocardial infarction after heterotopic transplantation in Tg mice. Circ J 72:793-7999
- 90. Ménard C, Hagège AA, Agbulut O, Barro M, Morichetti MC, Brasselet C, Bel A, Messas E, Bissery A, Bruneval P, Desnos M, Pucéat M, Menasché P (2005) Transplantation of cardiac-committed mouse embryonic stem cells to infarcted sheep myocardium: a preclinical study. Lancet 366:1005-1012
- 91. Min TQ, Zhu CJ, Xiang WX, Hui ZJ, Peng SY (2004) Improvement in endothelial progenitor cells from peripheral blood by ramipril therapy in patients with stable coronary artery disease. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 18:203-209
- 92. Mohabir R, Young SD, Strosberg AM (1994) Role of angiotensin in pressure overload-induced hypertrophy in rats: effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, an AT1 receptor antagonist, and surgical reversal. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 23:291-299
- 93. Möllmann H, Nef HM, Kostin S, von Kalle C, Pilz I, Weber M, Schaper J, Hamm CW, Elsässer A (2006) Bone marrow-derived cells contribute to infarct remodeling. Cardiovasc Res 71:661-671
- 94. Moon C, Krawczyk M, Ahn D, Ahmet I, Paik D, Lakatta EG, Talan MI (2003) Erythropoietin reduces myocardial infarction and left ventricular functional decline after coronary artery ligation in rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:11612-11617
- Morrissey JJ, Ishidoya S, McCracken R, Klahr S (1996) Control of p53 and p21 (WAF1) expression during unilateral ureteral obstruction. Kidney Int Suppl 57:S84-92
- 96. Müller P, Pfeiffer P, Koglin J, Schäfers HJ, Seeland U, Janzen I, Urbschat S, Böhm M (2002) Cardiomyocytes of noncardiac origin in myocardial biopsies of human transplanted hearts. Circulation 106:31-35
- 97. Müller P, Kazakov A, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2008) Pressure-induced cardiac overload induces upregulation of endothelial and myocardial progenitor cells. Cardiovasc Res 70:151-9
- 98. Nagasawa K, Zimmermann R, Münkel B, Linz W, Schölkens B, Schaper J (1995) Extracellular matrix deposition in hypertensive hearts antifibrotic effects of ramipril. Eur Heart J 16 Suppl:C33-C37
- 99. Namimatsu S, Ghazizadeh M, Sugisaki Y (2005) Reversing the effects of formalin fixation with citraconic anhydride and heat: a universal antigen retrieval method. J Histochem Cytochem 53:3-11

- 100. Nolly H, Miatello R, Damiani MT, Abate CD (1997) Possible protective effects of kinins and converting enzyme inhibitors in cardiovascular tissues. Immunopharmacology 36:185-191
- 101. Nozyński J, Zakliczyński M, Zembala-Nozyńska E, Konecka-Mrówka D, Przybylski R, Nikiel B, Lange D, Mrówka A, Przybylski J, Maruszewski M, Zembala M (2007) Remodeling of human transplanted myocardium in ten-year follow-up: a clinical pathology study. Transplant Proc 39:2833-2840
- 102. Nygren JM, Jovinge S, Breitbach M, Säwén P, Röll W, Hescheler J, Taneera J, Fleischmann BK, Jacobsen SE (2004) Bone marrow-derived hematopoietic cells generate cardiomyocytes at a low frequency through cell fusion, but not transdifferentiation. Nat Med 10:494-501
- 103. Oberpriller JO, Ferrans VJ, Carroll RJ (1984) DNA synthesis in rat atrial myocytes as a response to left ventricular infarction. An autoradiographic study of enzymatically dissociated myocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 16:1119-1126
- 104. Oberpriller JO (ed) (1991) Development and Regenerative Potential of Cardiac Muscle; Harwood Academic, Chur
- 105. Oppel W (1901) Über Veränderungen des Myokards unter der Einwirkung von Fremdkörpern. Virchows Arch 164:406-412
- 106. Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Jakoniuk I, Anderson SM, Li B, Pickel J, McKay R, Nadal- Ginard B, Bodine DM, Leri A, Anversa P (2001) Bone marrow cells regenerate infarcted myocardium. Nature 410:701-705
- 107. Orlic D, Kajstura J, Chimenti S, Limana F, Jakoniuk I, Quaini F, Nadal-Ginard B, Bodine DM, Leri A, Anversa P (2001) Mobilized bone marrow cells repair the infarcted heart, improving function and survival. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:10344-10349
- 108. Osawa M, Nakamura K, Nishi N, Takahasi N, Tokuomoto Y, Inoue H, Nakauchi H (1996) In vivo self-renewal of c-Kit+ Sca-1+ Lin (low/-) hemopoietic stem cells. J Immunol 156:3207-3214
- 109. Parenti A, Morbidelli L, Ledda F, Granger HJ, Ziche M (2001) The bradykinin/B1 receptor promotes angiogenesis by up-regulation of endogenous FGF-2 in endothelium via the nitric oxide synthase pathway. FASEB J 15:1487-1489
- 110. Peichev M, Naiyer AJ, Pereira D, Zhu Z, Lane WJ, Williams M, Oz MC, Hicklin DJ, Witte L, Moore MA, Rafii S (2000) Expression of VEGFR-2 and AC133 by circulating human CD34(+) cells identifies a population of functional endothelial precursors. Blood 95:952-958
- 111. Pereira RF, Halford KW, O'Hara MD, Leeper DB, Sokolov BP, Pollard MD, Bagasra O, Prockop DJ (1995) Cultured adherent cells from marrow can serve as long-lasting precursor cells for bone, cartilage, and lung in irradiated mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:4857-4861

- 112. Pfeiffer P, Müller P, Kazakov A, Kindermann I, Böhm M (2006) Time-dependent cardiac chimerism in gender-mismatched heart transplantation patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 48:843-850
- 113. Pirro M, Schillaci G, Menecali C, Bagaglia F, Paltriccia R, Vaudo G, Mannarino MR, Mannarino E (2007) Reduced number of circulating endothelial progenitors and HOXA9 expression in CD34+ cells of hypertensive patients. J Hypertens 25:2093-2099
- 114. Pokharel S, van Geel PP, Sharma UC, Cleutjens JP, Bohnemeier H, Tian XL, Schunkert H, Crijns HJ, Paul M, Pinto YM (2004) Increased myocardial collagen content in transgenic rats overexpressing cardiac angiotensin-converting enzyme is related to enhanced breakdown of N-acetyl-Ser-Asp-Lys-Pro and increased phosphorylation of Smad2/3. Circulation 110:3129-3135
- 115. Polezhaev LV (1972) Loss and Restoration of Regenerative Capacity in Tissues and Organs of Animals. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts
- 116. Polezhaev LV (1972) Organ Regeneration in Animals: Recovery of Organ Regeneration Ability in Animals. Charles C Thomas Publisher, Springfield, Illinois
- 117. Polezhaev LV (1980) Autoradiographic studies in experiments with stimulation of cardiac muscle regeneration in rats. Folia Biol (Krakow) 28:231-236
- 118. Prunier F, Pfister O, Hadri L, Liang L, Del Monte F, Liao R, Hajjar RJ (2007) Delayed erythropoietin therapy reduces post-MI cardiac remodeling only at a dose that mobilizes endothelial progenitor cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 292:H522-H529
- 119. Qian C, Schoemaker RG, van Gilst WH, Roks AJ (2009) The role of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system in cardiovascular progenitor cell function. Clin Sci (Lond) 116:301-314
- 120. Quaini F, Urbanek K, Beltrami AP, Finato N, Beltrami CA, Nadal-Ginard B, Kajstura J, Leri A, Anversa P (2002) Chimerism of the transplanted heart. N Engl J Med 346:5-15
- 121. Raizada V, Skipper B, Luo W, Griffith J (2007) Intracardiac and intrarenal reninangiotensin systems: mechanisms of cardiovascular and renal effects. J Investig Med 55:341-359
- 122. Recktenwald D, Radbruch A (eds) (1998) Cell separation methods and applications. Marcel Decker INC, New York
- 123. Regoli D, Rizzi A, Calo G, Nsa Allogho S, Gobeil F (1997) B1 and B2 kinin receptors in various species. Immunopharmacology 36:143-147
- 124. Ring PA (1950) Myocardial regeneration in experimental ischemic lesions of the heart. J Pathol Bacteriol 62:21-27

- 125. Ripa RS, Jørgensen E, Wang Y, Thune JJ, Nilsson JC, Søndergaard L, Johnsen HE, Køber L, Grande P, Kastrup J (2006) Stem cell mobilization induced by subcutaneous granulocyte-colony stimulating factor to improve cardiac regeneration after acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction: result of the double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled stem cells in myocardial infarction (STEMMI) trial. Circulation 113:1983-1992
- 126. Ruiz-Hurtado G, Fernández-Velasco M, Mourelle M, Delgado C (2007) LA419, a novel nitric oxide donor, prevents pathological cardiac remodeling in pressureoverloaded rats via endothelial nitric oxide synthase pathway regulation. Hypertension 50:1049-1056
- 127. Rumyantsev PP, Kassem AM (1976) Cumulative indices of DNA synthesizing myocytes in different compartments of the working myocardium and conductive system of the rat's heart muscle following extensive left ventricle infarction. Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol 20:329-342
- 128. Rumyantsev PP (1977) Interrelations of the proliferation and differentiation processes during cardiac myogenesis and regeneration. Int Rev Cytol 51:187-273
- 129. Rumyantsev PP, Koro Antich RM, Nilova VK (1987) Proliferative processes in the myocardium in different parts of the heart during the creation of experimental myocardial infarct of the left ventricle in 2- and 3-week-old rats. (in Russian) Tsitologiia 29:35-46
- 130. Rumyantsev PP (1991) Growth and Hyperplasia of Cardiac Muscle Cells. Harwood Academic Publishing, London
- 131. Ryu S, Kolozsvary A, Jenrow KA, Brown SL, Kim JH (2007) Mitigation of radiation-induced optic neuropathy in rats by ACE inhibitor ramipril: importance of ramipril dose and treatment time. J Neurooncol 82:119-124
- 132. Sano M, Minamino T, Toko H, Miyauchi H, Orimo M, Qin Y, Akazawa H, Tateno K, Kayama Y, Harada M, Shimizu I, Asahara T, Hamada H, Tomita S, Molkentin JD, Zou Y, Komuro I (2007) p53-induced inhibition of Hif-1 causes cardiac dysfunction during pressure overload. Nature 446:444-448
- 133. Scaglione R, Argano C, Di Chiara T, Parrinello G, Colomba D, Avellone G, Donatelli M, Corrao S, Licata G (2007) Effect of dual blockade of renin-angiotensin system on TGFbeta1 and left ventricular structure and function in hypertensive patients. J Hum Hypertens 21:307-315
- 134. Schächinger V, Erbs S, Elsässer A, Haberbosch W, Hambrecht R, Hölschermann H, Yu J, Corti R, Mathey DG, Hamm CW, Süselbeck T, Werner N, Haase J, Neuzner J, Germing A, Mark B, Assmus B, Tonn T, Dimmeler S, Zeiher AM (2006) Improved clinical outcome after intracoronary administration of bone-marrow-derived progenitor cells in acute myocardial infarction: final 1-year results of the REPAIR-AMI trial. Eur Heart J 27:2775-2783
- 135. Scholzen T, Gerdes J (2000) The Ki-67 protein: from the known and the unknown. J Cell Physiol 182:311-322

- 136. Sharma U, Rhaleb NE, Pokharel S, Harding P, Rasoul S, Peng H, Carretero OA (2008) Novel anti-inflammatory mechanisms of N-Acetyl-Ser-Asp-Lys-Pro in hypertension-induced target organ damage. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 294:H1226-H1232 137. Shintani S, Murohara T, Ikeda H, Ueno T, Honma T, Katoh A, Sasaki K, Shimada T, Oike Y, Imaizumi T (2001) Mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Circulation 103:2776-2779 138. Shiojima I, Sato K, Izumiya Y, Schiekofer S, Ito M, Liao R, Colucci WS, Walsh K (2005) Disruption of coordinated cardiac hypertrophy and angiogenesis contributes to the transition to heart failure. J Clin Invest 115:2108-2118 139. Silver MD, Gotlieb A., Schoen FR (eds) (2001) Cardiovascular Pathology. 3rd ed. Elsevier Ltd, Oxford 140. Silvestre JS, Bergaya S, Tamarat R, Duriez M, Boulanger CM, Levy BI (2001) Proangiogenic effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition is mediated by the bradykinin B(2) receptor pathway. Circ Res 89:678-683 141. Skuba ND (1969) Immunocytochemical characteristics in reparative regeneration of the myocardium. Arkh Patol (in Russian) 31:39-44 142. Soonpaa MH, Field LJ (1998) Survey of studies examining mammalian cardiomyocyte DNA synthesis. Circ Res 83:15-26
- 143. Spangrude GJ, Heimbeld S, Weissman IL (1988) Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science 241:58-62
- 144. Spees JL, Whitney MJ, Sullivan DE, Lasky JA, Laboy M, Ylostalo J, Prockop DJ (2008) Bone marrow progenitor cells contribute to repair and remodeling of the lung and heart in a rat model of progressive pulmonary hypertension. FASEB J 22:1226-1236
- 145. Stacey E. Mills (ed) (2006) Histology for Pathologists. 3rd ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia
- 146. Stocum DL (2006) Regenerative biology and medicine. 1st ed. Academic Pr Inc, Burlington, San Diego
- 147. Strauer BE, Brehm M, Zeus T, Bartsch T, Schannwell C, Antke C, Sorg RV, Kögler G, Wernet P, Müller HW, Köstering M (2005) Regeneration of human infarcted heart muscle by intracoronary autologous bone marrow cell transplantation in chronic coronary artery disease: the IACT Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 46:1651-1658
- 148. Sugimoto K, Fujimura A (1998) Role of bradykinin in the reduction of left ventricular hypertrophy induced by angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Jpn J Pharmacol 76:431-434
- 149. Tamarat R, Silvestre JS, Durie M, Levy BI (2002) Angiotensin II angiogenic effect in vivo involves vascular endothelial growth factor- and inflammation-related pathways. Lab Invest 82:747-756

- 150. Tavassoli M, Crosby WH (1968) Transplantation of marrow to extramedullary sites. Science 161:54-56
- 151. Taylor K, Patten RD, Smith JJ, Aronovitz MJ, Wight J, Salomon RN, Konstam MA (1998) Divergent effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin II-receptor antagonism on myocardial cellular proliferation and collagen deposition after myocardial infarction in rats. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 31:654-660
- 152. Teiger E, Than VD, Richard L, Wisnewsky C, Tea BS, Gaboury L, Tremblay J, Schwartz K, Hamet P (1996) Apoptosis in pressure overload-induced heart hypertrophy in the rat. J Clin Invest 97:2891-2897
- 153. Thiele J, Varus E, Wickenhauser C, Kvasnicka HM, Lorenzen J, Gramley F, Metz KA, Rivero F, Beelen DW (2004) Mixed chimerism of cardiomyocytes and vessels after allogeneic bone marrow and stem-cell transplantation in comparison with cardiac allografts. Transplantation 77:1902-1905
- 154. Thum T, Fraccarollo D, Galuppo P, Tsikas D, Frantz S, Ertl G, Bauersachs J (2006) Bone marrow molecular alterations after myocardial infarction: Impact on endothelial progenitor cells. Cardiovasc Res 70:50-60
- 155. Thum T, Fraccarollo D, Thum S, Schultheiss M, Daiber A, Wenzel P, Munzel T, Ertl G, Bauersachs J (2007) Differential effects of organic nitrates on endothelial progenitor cells are determined by oxidative stress. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27:748-754
- 156. Törö E (1937) Die Wirkung des embryonalen Herzextraktes auf den Herzmuskel. Z Mikrosk Anat Forsch 41:1-26
- 157. Trask AJ, Ferrario CM (2007) Angiotensin-(1-7): pharmacology and new perspectives in cardiovascular treatments. Cardiovasc Drug Rev 25:162-174
- Ugurlucan M, Yerebakan C, Furlani D, Ma N, Steinhoff G (2009) Cell sources for cardiovascular tissue regeneration and engineering. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 57:63-73
- 159. Unger T, Mattfeldt T, Lamberty V, Bock P, Mall G, Linz W, Schölkens BA, Gohlke P (1992) Effect of early onset angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition on myocardial capillaries. Hypertension 20:478-482
- 160. Urbanek K, Quaini F, Tasca G, Torella D, Castaldo C, Nadal-Ginard B, Leri A, Kajstura J, Quaini E, Anversa P (2003) Intense myocyte formation from cardiac stem cells in human cardiac hypertrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 100:10440-10445
- 161. Urbanek K, Rota M, Cascapera S, Bearzi C, Nascimbene A, De Angelis A, Hosoda T, Chimenti S, Baker M, Limana F, Nurzynska D, Torella D, Rotatori F, Rastaldo R, Musso E, Quaini F, Leri A, Kajstura J, Anversa P (2005) Cardiac stem cells possess growth factor-receptor systems that after activation regenerate the infarcted myocardium, improving ventricular function and long-term survival. Circ Res 97:663-673

- 162. Urbich C, Aicher A, Heeschen C, Dernbach E, Hofmann WK, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2005) Soluble factors released by endothelial progenitor cells promote migration of endothelial cells and cardiac resident progenitor cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol 39:733-742
- 163. Uryvaeva IV, Aref'eva AM, Brodskiĭ V Ya (1980) Mechanisms of polyploidization of mouse cardiomyocytes. Biull Eksp Biol Med 89:219-222
- 164. Vakili BA, Okin PM, Devereux RB (2001) Prognostic implications of left ventricular hypertrophy. Am Heart J 141:334-341
- 165. van Amerongen MJ, Bou-Gharios G, Popa E, van Ark J, Petersen AH, van Dam GM, van Luyn MJ, Harmsen MC (2008) Bone marrow-derived myofibroblasts contribute functionally to scar formation after myocardial infarction. J Pathol 214:377-386
- 166. Vera Janavel G, Crottogini A, Cabeza Meckert P, Cuniberti L, Mele A, Papouchado M, Fernández N, Bercovich A, Criscuolo M, Melo C, Laguens R (2006) Plasmid-mediated VEGF gene transfer induces cardiomyogenesis and reduces myocardial infarct size in sheep. Gene Ther 13:1133-1142
- 167. Virag JI, Murry CE (2003) Myofibroblast and endothelial cell proliferation during murine myocardial infarct repair. Am J Pathol 163:2433-2440
- 168. Wang D, Carretero OA, Yang XY, Rhaleb NE, Liu YH, Liao TD, Yang XP (2004) N-acetyl-seryl-aspartyl-lysyl-proline stimulates angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 287:H2099-H20105
- 169. Wassmann S, Werner N, Czech T, Nickenig G (2006) Improvement of endothelial function by systemic transfusion of vascular progenitor cells. Circ Res 99:e74-e83
- 170. Weber KT, Clark WA, Janicki JS, Shroff SG (1987) Physiologic versus pathologic hypertrophy and the pressure-overloaded myocardium. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 10:S37-S50
- Weidemann A, Johnson RS (2008) Biology of HIF-1alpha. Cell Death Differ15:621-627
- 172. Werner CM, Böhm M (2008) The therapeutic role of RAS blockade in chronic heart failure. Ther Adv Cardiovasc Dis 2:167-177
- 173. Werner N, Junk S, Laufs U, Link A, Walenta K, Böhm M, Nickenig G (2003) Intravenous transfusion of endothelial progenitor cells reduces neointima formation after vascular injury Circ Res 93:e17-e24
- 174. Wienbergen H, Schiele R, Gitt AK, Juenger C, Heer T, Meisenzahl C, Landgraf H, Bossaller C, Senges J; MITRA PLUS Study Group (2002) Impact of ramipril versus other angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on outcome of unselected patients with ST-elevation acute myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol 90:1045-1049

- 175. Wojakowski W, Tendera M, Kucia M, Zuba-Surma E, Paczkowska E, Ciosek J, Hałasa M, Król M, Kazmierski M, Buszman P, Ochała A, Ratajczak J, Machaliński B, Ratajczak MZ (2009) Mobilization of bone marrow-derived Oct-4+ SSEA-4+ very small embryonic-like stem cells in patients with acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 53:1-9
- 176. Wollert KC, Meyer GP, Lotz J, Ringes-Lichtenberg S, Lippolt P, Breidenbach C, Fichtner S, Korte T, Hornig B, Messinger D, Arseniev L, Hertenstein B, Ganser A, Drexler H (2004) Intracoronary autologous bone-marrow cell transfer after myocardial infarction: the BOOST randomized controlled clinical trial. Lancet 364:141-148
- 177. Xia Y, Lee K, Li N, Corbett D, Mendoza L, Frangogiannis NG (2009) Characterization of the inflammatory and fibrotic response in a mouse model of cardiac pressure overload. Histochem Cell Biol 131:471-481
- 178. Yang XP, Liu YH, Mehta D, Cavasin MA, Shesely E, Xu J, Liu F, Carretero OA (2001) Diminished cardioprotective response to inhibition of angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensin II type 1 receptor in B(2) kinin receptor gene knockout mice. Circ Res 88:1072-1079
- 179. Youn TJ, Kim HS, Oh BH (1999) Ventricular remodeling and transforming growth factor-beta 1 mRNA expression after nontransmural myocardial infarction in rats: effects of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin II type 1 receptor blockade.\_1999 Basic Res Cardiol 94:246-253
- 180. Zeisberg EM, Tarnavski O, Zeisberg M, Dorfman AL, McMullen JR, Gustafsson E, Chandraker A, Yuan X, Pu WT, Roberts AB, Neilson EG, Sayegh MH, Izumo S, Kalluri R (2007) Endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition contributes to cardiac fibrosis. Nat Med 13:952-961
- 181. Zengin E, Chalajour F, Gehling UM, Ito WD, Treede H, Lauke H, Weil J, Reichenspurner H, Kilic N, Ergün S (2006) Vascular wall resident progenitor cells: a source for postnatal vasculogenesis. Development 133:1543-1551
- 182. Zhang X, Xu X, Nasjletti A, Hintze TH (2000) Amlodipine enhances NO production induced by an ACE inhibitor through a kinin-mediated mechanism in canine coronary microvessels. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 35:195-202
- 183. Zhao M, Chow A, Powers J, Fajardo G, Bernstein D (2004) Microarray analysis of gene expression after transverse aortic constriction in mice. Physiol Genomics 19:93-105
- 184. Zhu YC, Zhu YZ, Gohlke P, Stauss HM, Unger T (1997) Effects of angiotensinconverting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin II AT1 receptor antagonism on cardiac parameters in left ventricular hypertrophy. Am J Cardiol 80:110A-117A
- 185. Zierhut W, Zimmer HG, Gerdes AM (1991) Effect of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition on pressure-induced left ventricular hypertrophy in rats. Circ Res 69:609-617

- 186. Zimmermann R, Kastens J, Linz W, Wiemer G, Schölkens BA, Schaper J (1999) Effect of long-term ACE inhibition on myocardial tissue in hypertensive strokeprone rats. J Mol Cell Cardiol 31:1447-1456
- 187. Zohlnhöfer D, Ott I, Mehilli J, Schömig K, Michalk F, Ibrahim T, Meisetschläger G, von Wedel J, Bollwein H, Seyfarth M, Dirschinger J, Schmitt C, Schwaiger M, Kastrati A, Schömig A; REVIVAL-2 Investigators (2006) Stem cell mobilization by granulocyte colony-stimulating factor in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 295:1003-1110

## 9. Acknowledgments

I want to express gratitude to Professor Dr. med. M. Böhm for the opportunity to work in his department and for his encouragement to perform this study.

I am thankful to Professor Dr. med. U. Laufs for his encouragement and help in every respect.

My sincere thanks to Dr. med. P. Müller for his support and supervision.

I am grateful to Professor Dr. rer. nat. P. Lipp and Dr. rer. nat. L. Kaestner for their help in confocal microscopy.

I appreciate the excellent technical assistance of S. Jäger, E. Becker and I. Hartmann.

I thank all my colleagues with whom I worked side-by-side and day-by-day in the laboratory for the good working atmosphere.

Finally, I want to give a very special thanks to my parents for their moral support that was so necessary for me during my work.

## 10. List of publications

## **Original articles**

Pfeiffer P, Müller P, **Kazakov A**, Kindermann I, Böhm M (2006) Time-dependent cardiac chimerism in gender-mismatched heart transplantation patients. J Am Coll Cardiol; 48:843-850

Müller P\*, **Kazakov A\***, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2008) Pressure-induced cardiac overload induces upregulation of endothelial and myocardial progenitor cells. Cardiovasc Res; 70:151-159.

Werner C, Hanhoun M, Widmann T, **Kazakov** A, Semenov A, Pöss J, Bauersachs J, Thum T, Pfreundschuh M, Müller P, Haendeler J, Böhm M, Laufs U (2008) Effects of physical exercise on myocardial telomere-regulating proteins, survival pathways and apoptosis. J Am Coll Cardiol; 52:470-482.

Müller P\*, Kazakov A\*, Jagoda P, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2009)

ACE inhibition promotes upregulation of endothelial progenitor cells and neoangiogenesis in cardiac pressure overload.

Cardiovasc Res; 83:106-114.

Reil JC, Hohl M, Oberhofer M, **Kazakov A**, Kaestner L, Mueller P, Adam O, Maack C, Lipp P, Mewis C, Allessie M, Laufs U, Böhm M, Neuberger HR. (2010)

Cardiac Rac1 overexpression in mice creates a substrate for atrial arrhythmias characterized by structural remodeling.

Cardiovasc Res; 2010 Apr 12 [Epub ahead of print]

\*Both authors contribute equally to the study and share first authorship

### Reviews

Müller P, Beltrami AP, Cesselli D, Pfeiffer P, **Kazakov A**, Böhm M (2005) Myocardial regeneration by endogenous adult progenitor cells. J Mol Cell Cardiol; 39:377-387.

**Kazakov** A, Müller P, Beltrami AP, Pfeiffer P, Cesselli D, Böhm M (2005) Stem cells and regeneration of human myocardium. Kardiologiia; 45(11):65-75.

### Abstracts

Müller P, Custodis F, **Kazakov A**, Böhm M, Laufs U. (2005) Pressure-Induced Myocardial Hypertrophy Mediates Upregulation of Bone Marrow-Derived Endothelial Progenitor Cells. Circulation; 112:II –305 Müller P, Custodis F, **Kazakov A**, Böhm M, Laufs U (2006) Druck-induzierte Myokardhypertrophie vermittelt die Hochregulation endothelialer Progenitorzellen aus dem Knochenmark. Clin Res Cardiol; 95: Suppl 5, P182

Müller P, **Kazakov A**, Custodis F, Böhm M, Laufs U. (2006) Increase of cardiac load by transaortic constriction leads to upregulation of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells, neoangiogenesis and proliferation of cardiomyocytes. Eur Heart J; 27:162

Müller P, **Kazakov A**, Böhm M, Laufs U (2007) Bei kardialer Nachlasterhöhung verbessern ACE-Hemmer Kapillarisierung und EPC-Migration und attenuieren die intrakardiale Zellproliferation. Clin Res Cardiol; 96: Suppl, V1894

Müller P, **Kazakov A**, Böhm M, Laufs U (2007) ACE-inhibitors improve myocardial capillarization, EPC migration and attenuate intracardiac cellular proliferation in myocardial hypertrophy. Eur Heart J; 28:228

Müller P, **Kazakov A**, Böhm M, Laufs U (2007) Cardiac Overload Is Associated With Cardiac Angiogenesis By Bone Marrow-derived Cells And Upregulation Of Myocyte Prescursor Cells. Scientific Sessions, American Heart Association, Abstract 1069

**Kazakov** A, Müller P, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2008) ACE-Hemmer steigert die Angiogenese im Rahmen einer kardialen Nachlasterhöhung durch Hochregulation endothelialer Progenitorzellen. Clin Res Cardiol; 97: Suppl, P 1442.

Müller P, **Kazakov A,** Semenov A Böhm M, Laufs U (2008) Kardiale Nachlasterhöhung führt zu kardialer Angiogenese durch dem Knochenmark entstammende Zellen sowie zur Hochregulation kardiomyozytärer Vorläuferzellen. Clin Res Cardiol; 97: Suppl, P 1448.

Müller P, **Kazakov A**, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2008) ACE-inhibitors improve angiogenesis in myocardial hypertrophy by upregulation of endothelial progenitor cells. Eur Heart J; 29 (Abstract Suppl.): 240-241.

Müller P, Jagoda P, **Kazakov A**, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2009) Regulation der kardialen Angiogenese bei Nachlasterhöhung durch EPC aus dem Knochenmark Clin Res Cardiol; 98: Suppl 1, April 2009: P 1317.

Müller P, Jagoda P, **Kazakov A**, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2009) Regulation of cardiac angiogenesis in pressure overload by endothelial progenitor cells from the bone marrow Eur Heart J; 30 (Abstract Suppl): 500: P3083.

Müller P, Jagoda P, **Kazakov A**, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U (2009) Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase of the Bone Marrow Regulates Cardiac Angiogenesis in Pressure Overload. Circulation; 120:S\_865: V3816. Müller P, **Kazakov A**, Semenov A, Jagoda P, Böhm M, Laufs U (2010) Differierende Effekte von ACE-Inhibitor und AT1-Rezeptorblocker bei kardialer Nachlasterhöhung ohne zusätzliche Vorteile der Kombinationstherapie. Clin Res Cardiol 99, Suppl 1, April 2010: P1335.

# 11. Curriculum Vitae

Name	Andrey Kazakov
Date of birth	10.08.1976
Place of birth	Gorkij
Citizenship	Russian Federation
School education	
1983-1993	First and Second School, Gorkij
University education	
1993-1999	Study of Human Medicine at the State Medical Academy in Nizhniy Novgorod
	Diploma with honors
1999-2001	Clinical Study of Internal Medicine in the Clinic of Internal Diseases of Regional Clinic Hospital named after N. A. Semashko and the Chair of Internal Medicine, State Medical
	Academy in Nizhniy Novgorod
2001-2005	Postgraduate Course in Internal Medicine, State Medical Academy in Nizhny Novgorod Dissertation: Clinical and functional characteristic of the myocardium of the left ventricle in patients with extrasystoles and essential hypertension
2006-2007	Scholarship and grant of the Deutsche Gesellschaft für Kardiologie, Herz und Kreislaufforschung (DGK, German Cardiac Society)
2003- till now	Scientific assistant in the Cardiological scientific laboratory in the Department of Cardiology, Angiology and Intensive Care of University Clinic of Saarland (Homburg/Saar) (Director: Prof. Dr. M. Böhm)